
VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE / TOWN OF WESTPORT
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION

Town of Westport Community Room
5387 Mary Lake Road
June 11, 2019 6:00 PM

Agendas may change prior to the commencement of the meeting. 
Please check the posting board at the Village Hall, 500 W. Main Street,

Waunakee, Wisconsin for the current agenda.

AGENDA

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL:  Ken Sipsma, Dean Grosskopf, Eileen Bruskewitz, Brian Malich, Brad Zeman, 
Brian Wallace

MINUTES

1 May 14, 2019

PUBLIC COMMENT ON ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

NEW BUSINESS

1 Initial Consultation, Schutz Extraterritorial Rezone, 5540 Gerend Road, Town of 
Westport

2 Public Hearing and Discussion/Action on Festival Foods Conditional Use Permit to 
Exceed the Maximum Allowable Building Square Footage in the Kilkenny West 
Commercial Development

3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific Implementation Plan for Festival Foods in 
the Kilkenny Commons West commercial development

4 Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on a request by Groundswell Conservancy to 
divide & rezone 3 parcels located along STH 19 & Hellenbrand Rd (AKA: 
O’Malley Property) into 2 parcels. The larger parcel will be rezoned from A-1 to 
Conservancy

ADJOURN

Any person who has a qualifying disability as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or materials at the meeting to be in 
an accessible location or format should contact the municipal clerk at (608) 850-8500, 500 West Main Street, Waunakee, Wisconsin, at least twenty-four 
hours prior to the commencement of the meeting so that any necessary arrangements can be made to accommodate each request.

VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE BOARD AND PLAN COMMISSION MEETING
TOWN OF WESTPORT BOARD AND PLAN COMMISSION MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the Village or Town Board or Village or Town Plan Commission may attend this meeting. No action will be taken by the 
Village or Town Board or Village or Town Plan Commission at this meeting.

Next scheduled meeting is 7/9/2019 6:00:00 PM.

1 of 68



VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE/TOWN OF WESTPORT 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

Town of Westport Community Room 
5387 Mary Lake Road, Town of Westport 

May 14, 2019 6:00 PM 
 

Meeting Minutes 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
ROLL CALL:   
Present:  Ken Sipsma, Eileen Bruskewitz, Brad Zeman, Brian Malich, Brian Wallace 
Absent:  Dean Grosskopf 
Also Present:  Tom Wilson, Kevin Even, Tracy Meinholz, Ed Freer, Bryan Kleinmaier, Lauren Lofton, 
Brian Bauman, Jerry Tierney, Mike Lawton, Bree Cooper, John Brehm, Bill Dunlop, Dan O’Callighan, 
Don Tierney. 
 
 
MINUTES 
 
1 April 8, 2019 

Motion Zeman, second Bruskewitz, to approve the minutes from the April 8, 2019 Joint Plan 
Commission meeting as presented. Motion carried 5-0. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None 
 
Brian Malich arrived at 6:04 p.m. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
1 Initial Consultation, Lot Line Adjustment and Rezone (Continue Current Use), 

Meffert/Pineview, CTH K, Town of Westport 
 Mr. Wilson gave an update on the consultation at the Town Plan Commission meeting. They 

were not in favor of creating a new parcel and would prefer a simple lot line adjustment. The 
applicant will be making a formal submittal in the future. No action necessary. 

 
 
2 Public Hearing and Discussion/Action on HyVee Specific Implementation Plan (Site Plan) 

and Conditional Use Permit to Exceed the Maximum Allowable Building Square Footage in 
the Woodland Crest Development 

 Staff presented an updated Conditional Use document, based on the action by the Village Plan 
Commission the previous evening. The applicant presented updated plans based on the action 
from the Plan Commission. Mr. Sipsma opened the public hearing at 6:23 p.m. Lauren Lofton, 
Brian Bauman, Jerry Tierney and Dan O’Callighan registered and spoke. The public hearing was 
then closed at 6:36 p.m. After discussion, motion by Zeman, seconded by Wallace, to approve the 
updated conditional use permit with the change to item 2(d) as identified in the meeting. Motion 
carried 5-0.  Motion by Zeman, second by Malich, to approve the HyVee specific implementation 

MINUTES-1 May 14, 2019

2 of 68



plan, subject to plans approved by the Village Engineer and Village Attorney being incorporated 
into the SIP.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 
 
3 Update on Festival Foods Specific Implementation Plan 
 Brian Bauman of Festival Foods presented the update and indicated that they would be making 

formal submittal for the June meeting. No action necessary. 
 
ADJOURN 
Motion Bruskewitz, second Zeman, to adjourn the meeting at 7:09 p.m. Motion carried. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted: 
Tracy Meinholz, Joint Plan Commission Secretary 

MINUTES-1 May 14, 2019

3 of 68



WAUNAKEE/WESTPORT JOINT PLAN COMMISSION SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: 06/11/2019 

ITEM: NEW BUSINESS

TITLE: Initial Consultation, Schutz Extraterritorial Rezone, 5540 Gerend Road, Town of Westport

ISSUE SUMMARY: The applicant would like to rezone from County R-1 to Village R-1 to allow less 
restrictive setbacks. The existing garage is too close to the ROW and this would correct that issue 
and allow them to to make a new garage addition line up with the house.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  None at this time.

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  No action required. 

NEW BUSINESS-1 Initial Consultation, Schutz...

4 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-1 Initial Consultation, Schutz...

5 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-1 Initial Consultation, Schutz...

6 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-1 Initial Consultation, Schutz...

7 of 68



WAUNAKEE/WESTPORT JOINT PLAN COMMISSION SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: 06/11/2019 

ITEM: PUBLIC HEARING

TITLE: Public Hearing and Discussion/Action on Festival Foods Conditional Use Permit to Exceed 
the Maximum Allowable Building Square Footage in the Kilkenny West Commercial Development

ISSUE SUMMARY: Attached is a conditional use permit to allow Festival Foods in the Kilkenny 
Farms West Commercial Development (a mixed-use development located at the southwest corner of 
Woodland Drive and County Highway Q) to exceed the maximum allowable building square footage.    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval.

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  Motion to approve the conditional use permit with all conditions 
recommended by the Village Plan Commission. 

NEW BUSINESS-2 Public Hearing and Discussion/Action...

8 of 68



 
 1 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
 

Pursuant Chapter 133, Article 5, and Section 133-19 of the Village of Waunakee 
Zoning Code, and pursuant to the General Development Plan for the Kilkenny Commons 
West Development, the Village of Waunakee / Town of Westport Joint Plan Commission 
(the “Joint Plan Commission”) hereby issues the conditional use permit, as set forth 
herein, to the Applicant, Festival Foods. 

 
Recitals 

 
A. The Applicant has acquired, or has a right to acquire, Lot 1 of Dane County 

Certified Survey Map No. ______, recorded on the ____ day of ________, _____, 
in Volume ___ of Dane County Certified Survey Maps, pages ____ to ____, as 
Document No. _________, Village of Waunakee, Dane County, Wisconsin (the 
“Property”).  

 
B. The Applicant proposes to construct and operate a grocery store on the Property, 

and the grocery store will have more than 50,000 square feet of floor area, thereby 
requiring a conditional use permit pursuant to Section 133-19 of the Village of 
Waunakee Zoning Code.  

 
C. The Joint Plan Commission held a public hearing on the Applicant’s conditional 

use permit application on June 11, 2019, which public hearing was properly 
noticed.  

 
Issuance of Conditional Use Permit with Conditions 

 
1. The Joint Plan Commission finds that the standards set forth in Sections 133-19 

and 133-936 of the Village of Waunakee Zoning Code are satisfied by granting the 
Applicant the conditional use permit as set forth herein. 

 
2. The Joint Plan Commission approves the building size for the grocery store, and 

finds that the following conditions shall apply to the conditional use permit 
granted herein: 

 
a. The Applicant shall construct the grocery store pursuant to the site plan and 

specific implementation plan approved by the Joint Plan Commission.  
 
b. Site plans for seasonal sales on the Property are subject to review and 

approval by the Village Engineer.  
 
c. .  
 

NEW BUSINESS-2 Public Hearing and Discussion/Action...

9 of 68



 
 2 

3. The Joint Plan Commission reserves the right to revoke this conditional use permit 
if the Applicant fails to satisfy any of the conditions identified in Section 2 and 
maintains all of its powers and authority over the conditional use permit as set 
forth in the Village Zoning Code. 

 
The Conditional Use Permit set forth herein was issued by the Village of 

Waunakee / Town of Westport Joint Plan Commission on June 11, 2019. 
       
      APPROVED: 
 
      ________________________________ 
      Ken Sipsma, Joint Plan Commission Chair 
 
 
      ________________________________  
      Tracy Meinholz, Joint Plan Commission Clerk 

NEW BUSINESS-2 Public Hearing and Discussion/Action...

10 of 68



STOP

ONLY

STOP

STOP

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

Always aBetter Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

JOB NUMBER

1868540

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

N
AK

EE
, W

I 5
35

97
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

C1.2

SITE PLAN

JAN. 7, 2019

JAN. 8, 2019

FEB. 28, 2019

MAR. 15, 2019

APR. 12, 2019

APR. 24, 2019

MAY 6, 2019

MAY 17, 2019

NEW BUSINESS-2 Public Hearing and Discussion/Action...

11 of 68



WAUNAKEE/WESTPORT JOINT PLAN COMMISSION SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: 06/11/2019 

ITEM: NEW BUSINESS

TITLE: Discuss and Take Action on the Specific Implementation Plan for Festival Foods in the 
Kilkenny Commons West commercial development

ISSUE SUMMARY: Attached is the SIP submittal. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Conditionally approve

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  Motion to approve subject to all outstanding staff issues resolved to the 
satisfaction of the Village Engineer as recommended by the Village Plan Commission.

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

12 of 68



SPECIFIC IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOT 1 

OF THE KILKENNY COMMONS WEST  
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP  

 (FESTIVAL FOODS SIP) 
 
 The undersigned, Festival Foods, which 
owns, or has a right to acquire, Lot 1 of Dane County 
Certified Survey Map No. ______, recorded on the 
____ day of ________, _____, in Volume ___ of 
Dane County Certified Survey Maps, pages ____ to 
____, as Document No. _________, Village of 
Waunakee, Dane County, Wisconsin (the 
“Property”), submits the following Specific 
Implementation Plan (SIP) for the development of 
the Property, pursuant to Section 133-896 of the 
Village of Waunakee Zoning Code: 
 
 1. The Property is zoned Planned Unit 
Development District (PUD) under Sections 133-892 
– 133-898 of the Village of Waunakee Zoning code, 
and is subject to the terms of the General 
Development Plan for the Property approved by the 
Village Board. 
 
 2. The use of the Property shall be limited to a grocery store with accessory facilities 
as identified in the General Development Plan.  No other uses shall be permitted on the Property 
without the approval of the Village of Waunakee.  
 
 3. The improvements on the Property shall be constructed substantially in 
accordance with the site plan approved by the Village of Waunakee – Town of Westport Joint 
Plan Commission on June 11, 2019, including, but not limited to, the approved exterior building 
plans and images, site layout plan, utility plan, grading plan, storm water pollution prevention 
plan, site photometric plan, site landscaping plan and exterior elevations, all identified as 
follows: 

 
Sheet Number Description   Issue Date 

    Floor Plan    
    Exterior Elevations   
    Existing Site Plan   
    Storm water Pollution  
    Prevention Plan 
    Site Utility Plan   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS SPACE RESERVED FOR RECORDING DATA 

RETURN TO: 

Village of Waunakee 
Attn: Village Clerk 
500 W. Main Street 
Waunakee, WI 53597  

P.I.N. 

 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

13 of 68



 2

 
Sheet Number Description   Issue Date 

    Site Grading Plan   
    Site Layout Plan   
    Site Landscape Plan   
    Site Detail Sheet   
    Landscape Detail Sheet  
    Site Photometric Plan  
    North East Perspective  
    North West Perspective  
    East Elevation   
    North Elevation   
    South West Perspective  
 
The above-referenced plans, elevations, and images are incorporated herein by 

reference.  Any material changes to such plans, elevations, and images must be approved 
by the Village of Waunakee. 

 
4. It is anticipated that construction by Festival Foods on the Property in 

accordance with this Specific Implementation Plan will commence in 2020, and will be 
completed in 2020, although these dates are subject to change.  

 
5. This instrument may not be amended without the consent of the Village of 

Waunakee. 
 

 
[Signature Page Follows] 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

14 of 68



 3

 
 
 Dated this _____ day of ___________________, 2019. 
 
     FESTIVAL FOODS  
 
 
 
     By: ________________________ 
     Title: ________________________ 
 
 
 
     By: ________________________ 
     Title: ________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN 
 
COUNTY OF DANE  
 
 Personally came before me this _____ day of __________, 2019, the above named 
__________ and __________, to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the same on behalf of Festival Foods.  
 
 
______________________________ 
Print Name: _____________________ 
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My Commission: _________________ 
 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

15 of 68



 4

CERTIFICATION OF APPROVAL 
 

 The aforesaid Specific Implementation Plan was approved by the Village of Waunakee – 
Town of Westport Joint Plan Commission on June 11, 2019. 
 
 Dated this ____ day of __________________, 2019. 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Tracy Meinholz, Joint Plan Commission Clerk 
 
This instrument drafted by 
Bryan Kleinmaier, Esq. 
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 
222 W. Washington Ave., Ste. 900 
Madison, WI  53701 
 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

16 of 68



  
 

 
RKS:tll\S:\MAD\1600--1699\1602\701\WRD\2019 Site Plan Comments\6.  Festival Foods Revised SIP and CUP\Festival Foods Site Plan Comments.docx 

May 31, 2019 
 
 
Mr. Kevin Even, P.E. 
Village of Waunakee 
500 West Main Street 
P.O. Box 100 
Waunakee, WI  53597 
 
Re: Festival Foods Site Plan 
 Village of Waunakee (Village) 
 
Dear Kevin, 
 
Strand Associates, Inc.® (Strand) received drawings dated May 17, 2019, regarding proposed 
improvements for Festival Foods grocery store, at the southwest corner of Woodland Drive and CTH Q. 
Strand has reviewed the drawings for conformance with Village ordinances and sound engineering 
practice. We have the following comments: 
 
Parking and Circulation 
 
The site provides 349 parking stalls, 13 of which are for those who need enhanced accessibility. The 
formula in the Village ordinance relating to parking for commercial sites yields a requirement of 
336 stalls, thus, an adequate number of stalls are provided to meet the ordinance. Customer parking is 
separated well from delivery vehicles, which will use the west entrance from Holiday Drive to serve the 
back (west side) of the store. Parking aisles and parking stalls appear to be of adequate width to 
accommodate typical traffic movements.  
 
The applicant provided truck turning diagrams that indicate a typical semi-truck can make the maneuvers 
required to access the loading dock. Trucks will be required to use the intersection of Holiday Drive and 
CTH Q, which will be improved as part of the upcoming Kilkenny West Commercial development, to 
access the west entrance to the store. The same trucks will exit the site onto Woodland Drive (eastbound 
only) and approach the Woodland Dive and CTH Q signal when their deliveries are completed.  
 
Strand recommends the following changes to the plan: 
 
a. The semi-truck shown for the northbound left onto Lone Silo Lane overtracks on the County Q 

median island and the north curb line of Lone Silo Lane. This movement should not be intended 
to be a delivery route for large trucks. Strand recommends retracting this movement to large 
trucks and designing the median opening for a SU-30 vehicle. 
 

b. Page C1.2: 
1. Paint the crosswalk pavement marking for the sidewalks that connect both 

Woodland Drive and Lone Silo Lane to the store. 
2. Paint a stop bar on the western driveway opening. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

17 of 68



Mr. Kevin Even, P.E. 
Village of Waunakee 
Page 2 
May 31, 2019 

 
 

 
RKS:tll\S:\MAD\1600--1699\1602\701\WRD\2019 Site Plan Comments\6.  Festival Foods Revised SIP and CUP\Festival Foods Site Plan Comments.docx 

3. Revise the Woodland Drive driveway at Sausalito Drive as indicated in the comments 
provided for the public improvements. 

 
c. Page C1.3–It is recommended that the two infiltration basins be equipped with perforated 

underdrain with removable plugs to allow for drawdown. 
 
d. Page C1.4: 

1. Reroute storm sewer Pipe 12 into Curb Inlet J to avoid a pond endwall. 
2. Similarly, reroute storm sewer Pipe 3 into Curb Inlet F to avoid a pond endwall. 
3. Reroute storm sewer Pipe 27 into Curb Inlet W to avoid a pond endwall. 

 
e. Page C1.5–The wet retention pond section detail should indicate a concrete toe wall for the storm 

sewer endwall. 
 
Signage 
 
No signage plans were provided. All signage proposed for the site and on the building will separate 
approval by the Plan Commission. 
 
Site 
 
A retaining wall is proposed near the truck loading docks to make up elevation differences from the site 
to a proposed pond. The wall at its tallest will be 14 feet high. A 4-foot decorative railing is proposed for 
on top of the wall. Strand  recommends a structural engineer licensed in the state of Wisconsin provide 
sealed drawings for the wall design as a condition of Village approval. 
 
A photometric plan was provided showing light intensity around the site. The only area where light levels 
exceed 3 foot-candles at a property line occur at the Woodland Drive access point near Sausalito Drive. 
The applicant should adjust the lighting plan there to keep light levels below 3 foot-candles intensity. 
The applicant should also consider the height of the fixture relative to the adjacent homes to the north. 
Even though that downward directing fixtures are used, it is important that the elevation differences 
between the site and the homes to the north do not cause a situation where the underside of the fixtures 
are visible and troublesome for the adjacent homes.  
 
Stormwater Management 
 
A low point in Lone Silo Drive will need a safe overflow route in the event the storm system is inundated 
or plugged.  This overflow route appears to be through the site, specifically through the central part of 
the main parking lot, draining in a south to north direction. While Strand does not have concerns about 
this route, we want to ensure that this route be reserved for safe passage of stormwater during extreme 
rain events. 
 
A stormwater maintenance plan and agreement has been prepared and submitted for review. It is 
recommended that a map be included as an attachment to the agreement that clearly identifies and labels 
the stormwater facilities that are covered in the maintenance plan. It is Strand’s understanding that each 
of the infiltration basins, bioretention basins and wet detention basins shown on the site improvement 
plans will be privately owned and maintained. This should be confirmed. Note that 3:1 side slopes within 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

18 of 68



Mr. Kevin Even, P.E. 
Village of Waunakee 
Page 3 
May 31, 2019 

 
 

 
RKS:tll\S:\MAD\1600--1699\1602\701\WRD\2019 Site Plan Comments\6.  Festival Foods Revised SIP and CUP\Festival Foods Site Plan Comments.docx 

the proposed stormwater basins are indicated at several locations. It is suggested that 4:1 side slopes be 
maintained. Have soils investigations (test pits) been performed to support the design of the proposed 
infiltration basins? Village stormwater permit applications and checklists should be completed and 
submitted.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.® 
 
 
 
 
R. Kent Straus, P.E. 
 
c: Todd Schmidt, Administrator, Village of Waunakee 
 Tim Herlitzka, Village of Waunakee Utilities 
 Bryan Kleinmeier, Stafford Rosenbaum 
 Ed Freer, Graef 
 Jason Valerius, MSA 
 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

19 of 68



1

Tracy Meinholz

From: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef-usa.com>
Sent: April 24, 2019 3:16 PM
To: Grant Duchac; Aaron Aspenson
Cc: Kevin Even; Tracy Meinholz; 'Straus, Kent'; Jason Valerius; Bryan Kleinmaier
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee - Islands & Landscaping
Attachments: Final Revison of Parking Lot Islands 04.24.2019 2.21PM -1_2.pdf; Waunakee Code Sec 

133-996.pdf

Grant Aaron 
  
Thank you for the update. 
  
In reviewing the attached site plan it appears that the proposed  locations of Tree Islands  are consistent with the Village 
Code Sec 133.‐996 in addressing the requirements pertaining to the provision of  a minimum of one canopy tree per 
every run of 12 parking spaces or an increment thereof , over any initial run of 6 parking stalls. 
  
In addition to providing the Parking Islands,  we also discussed that trees located along the perimeter parking area can 
also be designated as contributing towards meeting required landscape points,  if located  within ten feet of 
the  periphery of paved parking area. It would be helpful if the final planting plan specifically identify the perimeter 
Canopy Trees that are  intended to contribute towards meeting the parking lot planting requirements. 
  
I will ask that Tracy place this email and attachments in your submittal files. 
  
I am recommending approval of the location and quantity of  the proposed parking lot Canopy Trees.  This is 
being  achieved through a combination of both planting islands and the planting of trees at the  parking lot perimeter. 
  
Cheers, 
Ed  
  
  
  
  

From: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2019 1:40 PM 
To: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com> 
Cc: Aaron Aspenson <AAspenson@festfoods.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Hi Ed,  
  
See attached for revised site plan including interior islands per our discussion this morning.   
  
Thanks, 
  
Grant Duchac, P.E.  
Senior Engineer  
920.322.1681 direct 
  

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

20 of 68



2

From: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2019 12:17 PM 
To: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com> 
Cc: Aaron Aspenson <AAspenson@festfoods.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Gentlemen 
  
I have attached the code reference for the parking lot criteria. 
  
If you have any questions please call. 
I look forward to receiving the revised plan. 
  
Ed 
  
  
  
  

From: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2019 10:53 AM 
To: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com> 
Cc: Aaron Aspenson <AAspenson@festfoods.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Hi Ed – I am copying in Aaron Aspenson as well.  He is going to be joining our call at 11.  Talk to you soon.  Thanks.   
  
Grant Duchac, P.E.  
Senior Engineer  
920.322.1681 direct 
  

From: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2019 10:43 AM 
To: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Grant 
  
Good morning. 
Attached is a marked up print for our conversation at 11:00am. 
  
The red lined areas indicate the location of additional tree islands.. 
  
See you soon, 
ed 
  
  
  
  

From: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2019 6:51 AM 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

21 of 68



3

To: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Perfect.  I will give you a call then.   
  
Grant Duchac, P.E.  
Senior Engineer  
920.322.1681 direct 
  

From: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, April 23, 2019 5:08 PM 
To: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Less chat tomorrow morning at 11:00am.  
  
Call 608.320.4567 
  
If this presents  a conflict for you please suggest a few options in the afternoon. 
  
  
  
Thanks, 
Ed 
  
  

From: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, April 23, 2019 4:54 PM 
To: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com>; Jason Valerius <jvalerius@msa‐ps.com> 
Cc: kevin (kevin@waunakee.com) <kevin@waunakee.com>; Aaron Aspenson <AAspenson@festfoods.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Good Afternoon Ed, 
  
I wanted to follow up and check if you had a chance to review the interior islands?  It would be great to have a call to 
discuss tomorrow if you are available.   
  
Thanks, 
  
Grant Duchac, P.E.  
Senior Engineer  
920.322.1681 direct 
  

From: Grant Duchac  
Sent: Monday, April 22, 2019 3:30 PM 
To: 'Freer, Ed' <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com>; Jason Valerius <jvalerius@msa‐ps.com> 
Cc: kevin (kevin@waunakee.com) <kevin@waunakee.com>; Aaron Aspenson <AAspenson@festfoods.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Hi Ed, 
  

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

22 of 68



4

Thanks for the response.  I don’t think we need to set up a meeting but it would be great to have a phone conversation.  
  
Please see attached site plan – three interior landscape islands were added in line with existing cart corrals.  Would this 
be acceptable for interior islands and canopy trees?  A main focus of the parking lot layout is snowplowing.  These 
interior island locations allow for efficient snowplowing and interior canopy trees.   
  
In regards to your questions on the cart corrals and available adjacent space, we have allocated a 10’ wide space for the 
cart corrals although the actual cart corrals are much narrower (4‐5’).  This eliminates the scenario you described with 
the cart corrals being placed immediately adjacent to a striped stall without enough door swing room.   
  
Please let us know your thoughts on this and I can be available for a phone call later today, Tuesday, or Wednesday.   
  
Thanks, 
  
Grant Duchac, P.E.  
Senior Engineer  
920.322.1681 direct 
  

From: Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com>  
Sent: Monday, April 22, 2019 2:07 PM 
To: Jason Valerius <jvalerius@msa‐ps.com>; Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com> 
Cc: kevin (kevin@waunakee.com) <kevin@waunakee.com>; Aaron Aspenson <AAspenson@festfoods.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  

1. Jason and Grant 
  

I would be more than happy to accommodate a meeting. 
I will be out of town Thursday and Friday. 

  
2. Grant  

  
Before we meet please give some thought about introducing canopy trees into the interior parking lot where we 
have more than 12 vehicle parking stalls in a row. 

  
I have been becoming more sensitive to how the parking lot shopping cart storage is incorporated and working at 

other grocery stores. 
I find it interesting that the storage area is basically the conversion of one vehicular parking stall. It appears to work 
dimensionally  with the side by side stacking of carts. 

               
What I am curious about, is the thought process put into determining  the adequate width for the adjacent two 
parking stalls located on both sides of the cart   storage. 
  
I use these spaces frequently because they always seem to be empty and available. However I am careful to choose 
them and prefer  the right side of the cart storage  when I have no passengers. 

  
I typically avoid the left side because there isn’t adequate clearance for the door swing. Or when  I have the time 
and there is no traffic I use the option to back in. 
  
I would appreciate hearing your thoughts and experience on resolving this dimensional challenge. 
  
Cheers, 
ed 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

23 of 68



5

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

From: Jason Valerius <jvalerius@msa‐ps.com>  
Sent: Monday, April 22, 2019 1:29 PM 
To: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com>; Freer, Ed <Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com> 
Subject: RE: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Grant, 
  
I’d like to defer to Ed Freer on this one. 
Ed, can you tackle this with Grant? 
  
Jason 
  

 

 Jason Valerius, AICP | Team Leader 
MSA Professional Services, Inc. 

+1 (608) 242‐6629 
        
  
We’ve moved!  Our new address is: 
1702 Pankratz Street 
Madison, WI  53704 
  

From: Grant Duchac <grant.d@ExcelEngineer.com>  
Sent: Monday, April 22, 2019 12:27 PM 
To: Jason Valerius <jvalerius@msa‐ps.com> 
Subject: Festival Waunakee ‐ Islands & Landscaping 
  
Hi Jason, 
  
Do you have time today or tomorrow to discuss the interior landscape islands and added landscaping points for the 
Festival Waunakee project?  I want to discuss this with you to make sure we are on the same page prior to making the 
plan changes.   
  
Let me know what works for you.  Thanks.   
  
Grant Duchac, P.E.  
Senior Engineer 
  

 
  
100 Camelot Drive 
Fond du Lac, WI 54935 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

24 of 68



6

920.322.1681 direct 
www.excelengineer.com   
  

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

25 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

26 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

27 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

28 of 68



1010 East Washington Avenue, Suite 202 

Madison, WI 53703-3130 

608 / 242 1550 

608 / 242-0787 fax 
www.graef-usa.com 

 
[Click here & type the project number] 
 

 

MEMORANDUM        

 
 
TO:  Keven Even    
 
FROM: Ed Freer 
 
DATE:  05.31.2019 
 
SUBJECT: Site Plan Review  
  Festival Foods 
  Highway Q 
  Waunakee, Wisconsin 
 
 
Approval Request: 
 
The applicant is requesting the review and approval for the SIP for the proposed Festival 
Foods Grocery Development on the western side of Highway Q – south of Woodland 
Drive. 
 
Project Information:  
 
The following comments in this memo are focused on the proposed site improvements 
and architectural design of new grocery store. Due to the proposed size of the 
development the applicant is required to meet the conditions outlined for the approval od 
a conditional use permit.  
 
Additional review and comments pertaining to the site engineering, stormwater 
management, utilities, lighting, traffic, vehicular access / circulation / parking and zoning 
are by others comprising the Village Staff/Tech team. 
 
My comments pertain to and are limited to the following drawings: 
 

1. Architecture Building Elevations and Renderings 
2. Landscape Plan  
3. Signage 

 
Applicable Code: 
 
Sec. 133-19. - Retail building size.  
 
(a)  Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, no single building used for 
retail business shall have more than 50,000 square feet of floor area.  

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

29 of 68



 

 

 -2- May 31.2019 

 
Village of Waunakee  
 
Plan Commission Review and Comments 
 

 
 
 
 
(b)  A single building used for retail business may have up to 75,000 square feet of 
floor area pursuant to a conditional use permit granted in accordance with article V of 
this chapter. In addition to the provisions of article V of this chapter, the following shall 
be requirements of such a conditional use permit:  
 

(1)  Stormwater best management practices that minimize runoff and maximize on-
site infiltration. Publications of the state department of natural resources, United 
States Environmental Protection Agency and equivalent sources may be relied 
on to determine best management practices.  
 

(2)  Impervious building and pavement areas shall not exceed 70 percent of the 
total site area.  
 

(3)  Landscaping islands and perimeter plantings that screen and buffer large 
parking areas 1.5 times the number of landscaping points required under section 
133-996 shall be required.  
 

(4)   The design of, and materials used in, the building shall reflect the architectural 
styles and character of landmark buildings in the village.  

 a.  The intent of this requirement is to require architecturally designed 
 structures that reflect both the character of landmark or historic buildings in the  
 village and the topographic and natural characteristics of the site;  
 b.  Stock or standard building designs that are used repetitively in other 
 communities  should be avoided;  
 
 c.  Prefabricated metal or vinyl siding, common concrete block, or structural 
 cement shall not be used as a primary building material for any building facade. 
 This restriction shall not exclude the use of architectural concrete block or the 
 decorative use of metal as an architectural element.  
 
 (5)  A traffic impact analysis (TIA) shall be prepared to specifications 
 established by the village engineer and the applicant shall be required to  
 demonstrate that the project will not create congestion or cause other traffic 
 problems within the village.  
 (Code 1998, § 106-20; Ord. No. 05-06, § 3, 6-20-2005; Ord. No. 05-11, 9-6-
 2005) 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

30 of 68



 

 

 -3- May 31.2019 

 
Village of Waunakee  
 
Plan Commission Review and Comments 
 

 
 
 
 
General Comments and Observations 
 
It is always challenging to define what constitutes a landmark building and even more 
difficult to achieve consensus on referencing a historic time frame when considering the 
major changes in Waunakee’s architectural fabric over the last 4-5 decades.  
 
It is easy to agree that there are two concentrated commercial areas, one downtown and 
one evolving at the southern entry to the Village along Q. It is also easy to identify the 
strong horizontal character of the land and in some cases the gentle roll of the 
surrounding topography with its associated agricultural landscape.  
 
The aesthetic of the proposed building does provide strong horizontal lines and is 
reinforced with its undulating flat roof lines. 
 
There is a noticeable physical separation and travel distance between the buildings 
found in the central business district and the localized proximity of the newly developed 
commercial structures which are starting to compose the contextual fabric of Kilkenny 
Commons. 
 
The overall scale of the building is larger than what is currently found in Waunakee’s 
urban fabric with four exceptions; the Village Community Center, the EMS building, the 
new Library under construction and Waunakee’s existing grocery store. You could 
include the churches as being of landmark status, but they are unique in their own rite. 
There are a handful of buildings at the core of the business district that incorporate the 
use of brick in the smaller commercial buildings as well as the buildings historically 
associated with the railroad. 
 
The proposed newer materials used in the new building’s construction, the substantial 
increase in the use of glass, generous projections of roof lines and the use of sun 
screens and awnings help reduce the scale of the new building. The detailing also 
reflects a character of the newer commercial buildings which imply more energy 
efficiency with the increase of the penetration of natural light through various techniques 
of daylighting.  The recent construction at Kilkenny Commons has created a collection of 
structures that attempt to reflect today’s retail customer, innovative use of materials, 
pushing energy efficiencies and the use of natural daylighting. With Waunakee’s 
changing younger demographic seeks an architectural expression offering greater 
transparency and promoting 24/7 engagement. 
 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

31 of 68



 

 

 -4- May 31.2019 

 
Village of Waunakee  
 
Plan Commission Review and Comments 
 

The applicant has increased the planting design and plant quantities to help screen and 
buffer the loading dock areas. The overall planting and landscape points meet the 
conditional use requirement of 1.5 the normally required landscape points. 
 
The commercial development around Kilkenny Commons is also attempting to offer an 
alternative to help Waunakee reduce economic leakage to Middleton/Madison seeking to 
better attract business customers from the surrounding communities to Waunakee. 
 
The collection of images at the end of this memo help to illustrate the comments above. 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
It is my recommendation to approve the SIP submittal. It is consistent to the landscape 
requirements and proposed architectural design as submitted.   
 
In reviewing the Villages ordinances, the proposed project is consistent with code and 
meets the requirements of a conditional use permit for a development of this size.  
 
However, the submittal does not include a signage package as part of this review , which 
will be required as a conditional to obtain final approval. 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
 
End of Memo  
cc: Tracy Meinholz 
 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

32 of 68



Architecture
NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

33 of 68



Architectural Diversity 
NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

34 of 68



Architectural 
Landmark 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

35 of 68



Landmark ? 
NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

36 of 68



Older Architectural Context 
NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

37 of 68



New Architectural Context 
NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

38 of 68



Architectural Context 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

39 of 68



Architectural Guidelines 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

40 of 68



1 
 

 

 

REVISED PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

THE FESTIVAL FOODS PROJECT 

Festival Foods proposes to construct a full-service grocery store to anchor the Kilkenny West Commercial 

Center at the southwest corner of County Highway Q and Woodland Drive.    

Festival’s site and building plans contain the following features (see enclosed Site and Civil Plans and 

Exterior Elevations for details): 

• A grocery store of approximately 67,177 square feet offering natural and organic foods, fresh 

sushi, healthy-choices salad and hot food bar, an extensive deli as well as a scratch bakery, great 

meat and seafood selection, and catering services. 

• Festival’s popular Click n’ Go online ordering service, including a drive-up area for picking up 

groceries. 

• 349 total parking stalls, 13 of which will be ADA accessible.  The proposed parking is adequate to 

serve the facility and meets code requirements. 

• In the rear of the grocery building along Peaceful Valley Parkway, a designated loading zone and 

trash storage area that will be screened from view by one or more landscaped berms between 

the building and the street. 

• Three (3) driveway access points planned with consideration for convenient and safe access and 

circulation for customers and delivery vehicles – one (1) driveway off the to-be-constructed road, 

Lone Silo Lane, to the south of the property (full access), one (1) driveway off of Woodland Drive 

(right in, right out), and one (1) driveway off of Peaceful Valley Parkway (full access, but primarily 

for large truck traffic).  Festival expects approximately 25-30 vendor deliveries per day, except for 

Wednesdays and Saturdays when vendor deliveries average around 10-20 per day.  30-40% of all 

vendor deliveries are made by semi-trucks. 

• 5 foot wide minimum sidewalks around the outside of the building on three sides connecting to 

proposed and existing pedestrian pathways surrounding the property. 

• A separate entrance (in addition to common access through the store) for the wine and spirits 

department, which department will have a fully staffed check-out lane and one additional lane 

for overflow. 

• Building designs that comply with the height limits and setbacks applicable to the PUD and the 

architectural guidance provided by Village staff.  

• Attractive and welcoming landscaping that strategically screens the existing and proposed 

housing to the north and west. 

• Building signage as shown on the exterior elevations.  In addition, Festival also plans to construct 

a retaining wall sign, a depiction of which also has been included with the exterior elevations. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

41 of 68



2 
 

• Stormwater runoff will be treated for peak discharge, water quality, infiltration, thermal control, 

and oil/grease control prior to being discharged from the site.  Stormwater management 

treatment will comply with all applicable local, county, and state stormwater ordinances.  On-site 

stormwater treatment practices will include strategically located wet pond(s), bio-infiltration 

basin(s), and an infiltration basin.   Existing drainage patterns will be maintained to the maximum 

extent practicable and emergency overflow routes are provided to safely convey stormwater for 

rainfall events in excess of the 100-year storm.  Reference the attached Stormwater Calculation 

Report for further details.  

REQUESTED CONDITIONAL USES 

The site is currently zoned A-1 Agricultural, but is proposed for PUD zoning with the rest of the Kilkenny 
West Commercial Center. 
 
Festival Foods is seeking a conditional use permit for a retail business in excess of 50,000 square feet 
of ground floor. 

 
The Festival Foods site is designed to comply with Section 133-19 of the Waunakee Municipal Code of 
Ordinances (the “WMCO”) and to meet the review criteria for conditional uses set forth in Article V of 
Chapter 133 of the WMCO: 

 
 CUP Standard Applicant Response 

1 The establishment, maintenance or operation 
of the conditional use will not be detrimental to 
or endanger the public health, safety, morals, 
comfort, or general welfare 

The project will positively impact nearby 
properties and the character of the area by 
providing a full-service grocery store to serve 
the community. 

2 The uses, values and enjoyment of other 
property in the neighborhood for purposes 
already permitted shall be in no foreseeable 
manner substantially impaired or diminished 
by the establishment, maintenance, or 
operation of the conditional use and the 
proposed use is compatible with the use of 
adjacent land 

The proposed use will complement 
surrounding existing and planned land uses, 
particularly the Kilkenny Farms neighborhood 
and the nearby schools, and will further 
establish the Woodland Drive/CTH Q 
intersection as a gateway to Waunakee. 

3 The establishment of the conditional use will 
not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of the 
surrounding property for uses permitted in the 
district 

The proposed uses will anchor the other 
proposed uses within the Kilkenny West 
Commercial Center, and the site has been 
designed so as not to impede development 
options for other properties in the 
surrounding neighborhood. 

4 Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and 
other necessary site improvements have been 
or are being provided 

The site is located at a key intersection already 
served by many public utilities, and the 
development of the Kilkenny West 
Commercial Center will provide any remaining 
infrastructure, making this a logical location 
for the proposed development. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

42 of 68



3 
 

5 Adequate measures have been or will be taken 
to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets 

Vehicle circulation will be accommodated by 
four (4) driveway access points planned with 
consideration for convenient and safe access 
and circulation for customers and delivery 
vehicles – two driveways off the to-be-
constructed road, Lone Silo Lane, to the south 
of the property (one full access and one 
entrance only), one (1) driveway off of 
Woodland Drive (full access), and one (1) 
driveway off of Peaceful Valley Parkway (full 
access, but primarily for large truck traffic). 

6 The conditional use shall, except for yard 
requirements, conform to all applicable 
regulations of the district in which it is located 

The site complies with all applicable 
regulations of the GDP and the pending PUD 
zoning. 

7 The proposed use does not violate floodplain 
regulations governing the site 

The standard is met, as no floodplain exists on 
site. 

8 When applying the standards in subsections (1) 
through (7) of this section to any new 
construction of a building or an addition to an 
existing building, the plan commission and 
village board shall bear in mind the statement 
of purpose for the zoning district such that the 
proposed building or addition at its location 
does not defeat the purposes and objective of 
the zoning district 

For all of the reasons stated above, this project 
will advance the intent of the zoning code, 
which is to promote the comfort, health, 
safety, morals, prosperity, aesthetics and 
general welfare of the people of the Village of 
Waunakee. 

 

Further, this submittal includes all required, applicable items set forth in Section 133-47 of the WMCO as 

well as the applicable items required in the Village’s Plan Commission Application. 

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

• Lone Silo North Addition, LLC will be responsible for delivering a pad-ready site to Festival in 

accordance with the purchase agreement between the parties. 

• No phasing is proposed for Festival’s site construction. 

• The store currently is slated for an opening in the fall of 2020.  Construction for stores with fall 

2020 opening dates likely will start on or around April 1, 2020. 

• As built, the value of the store, including site improvements, is estimated to be approximately  

$10,000,000-$11,000,000 plus approximately $7,000,000 in furniture, fixtures and equipment. 

THE FESTIVAL FOODS STORY 

Based in Onalaska, Wisconsin since 1946, Festival owns and operates 32 stores in Wisconsin.  Two 

additional stores located in Verona and Hales Corners are slated to open in late 2019.     Currently, there 

are more than 7,500 full and part-time Festival associates across Wisconsin.  Owned by the Skogen family 

since its inception, employee ownership was added in 2010.    

 

 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

43 of 68



4 
 

THE FESTIVAL FOODS COMMITMENT TO LOCAL SCHOOLS AND THE COMMUNITY 

While grocers have always been a critical part of the communities in which they operate, Festival prides 

itself on not just being in a community, but rather a part of it.  This is evidenced by Festival’s 6-person 

Community Involvement team overseeing a multi-million dollar-budget.  To us, being involved means 

giving back and supporting the health of the communities where we do business.  Many elements 

combine to make a truly healthy community, but nothing sets a better foundation than our school 

systems, including arts, athletics, and academics. 

We are proud to partner with many schools across Wisconsin to provide essential academic tools such as 

Junior Achievement, Character Lives Program and The Einstein Project.  Festival Foods has also invested 

in school funding from theatrical performances to facilities, including concession stands and athletic fields. 

 

Festival also is well known for its statewide sponsorship of July 4th fireworks -- currently conducting 23 

community fireworks displays -- as well as the traditional Thanksgiving “Turkey Trot”.  In addition, 

Festival’s Community Involvement team coordinates involvement in and support for more than 800 

community events across the state.   

A Festival “brat barn” is located in the front of most of our stores and is made available at no charge on 

weekends to local and community groups for fundraising purposes.  At most Festival locations, the Brat 

Barn is operated by local community groups every Saturday and Sunday from April through October.  

Discounted and complimentary product is made available to the groups operating the Brat Barn. 

OPERATIONS AT THE WAUNAKEE FESTIVAL FOODS 

The grocery store is proposed to be open 24/7/364, closed only on Christmas Day.  Specific departments 

within the store, such as the wine and spirits department, will have more limited hours. 

Festival anticipates hiring 250 associates (30% full-time and 70% part-time) for the Waunakee store.  

Hiring of employees typically begins approximately six months prior to opening. 

The grocery store will contain a scratch bakery and 60-foot deli offering freshly prepared salads and other 

items (both hot and cold), a well as a wide variety of “take home” meal options.   Guests will have the 

ability to dine in-store on the deli area mezzanine.  The mezzanine area (as well as the community room) 

can be reserved and used by local groups and organizations free of charge. 

The store will have an American Heroes Café where area veterans and community members alike are 

invited to gather to meet or share a meal.   

In addition, the store includes a “Tot Spot” offering in-store, supervised child care.  Present in most Festival 

locations, the Tot Spot is staffed by fully-trained store personnel.  

The store also will include a “brat barn” like the one described above. 

Festival will also offer seasonal merchandise in the parking lot and along the front walks of the grocery 

store.  In addition, Festival conducts two popular seasonal events, a Mother’s Day Plant Blowout in May, 

and in early October, a Pumpkin Blowout.  Both events have been held for a number of years across the 

state and are extremely popular with guests. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

44 of 68



5 
 

Festival’s popular Click n’ Go online ordering will also be available at the store, allowing guests to place an 

order online and pick up at the store.  It is anticipated that delivery will available as well. 

To learn more about Festival’s history, core values, employee benefits and seasonal events, please see 
the attachments to this project description.   

CONCLUSION 

Festival Foods and its development partner, Lone Silo North Addition, LLC, look forward to presenting 
their plans to the Waunakee Plan Commission, Waunakee/Westport Joint Planning Commission, and 
Village Board.  We welcome your feedback on our proposal and will be happy to answer any questions 
you may have. 
 
 

 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

45 of 68



SM Proposed Festival Foods 
WAUNAKEE, WISCONSIN 

© 2019 Somerville, Inc. This drawing may not be reproduced without the written permission of Somerville, Inc. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

46 of 68



SM Proposed Festival Foods 
WAUNAKEE, WISCONSIN 

© 2019 Somerville, Inc. This drawing may not be reproduced without the written permission of Somerville, Inc. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

47 of 68



SM Proposed Festival Foods 
WAUNAKEE, WISCONSIN 

© 2019 Somerville, Inc. This drawing may not be reproduced without the written permission of Somerville, Inc. 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

48 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

49 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

50 of 68



proposed retaining wall signage 

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

51 of 68



©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY

VERIFY STATION FOR INLET

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

VERIFY STATION FOR INLET

LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

NO
T 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
O

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

DIVISION 31  EARTH WORK

31 10 00  SITE CLEARING (DEMOLITION)

A. CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL DIGGER'S HOT LINE  AND CONDUCT A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATE AS REQUIRED TO ENSURE

THAT ALL UTILITIES HAVE BEEN LOCATED BEFORE STARTING SITE DEMOLITION.  DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE

NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN PLAN AND FIELD CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

B. DEMOLITION PLAN IS AN OVERVIEW OF DEMOLITION TO TAKE PLACE ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY

EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS PRIOR TO BIDDING.  CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE, REPLACE, OR DEMOLISH ALL ITEMS

AS NEEDED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

C. CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS THAT ARE SCHEDULED TO REMAIN.  ANY DAMAGE TO

EXISTING FACILITIES SHALL BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.

D. ALL CONCRETE NOTED TO BE REMOVED SHALL BE REMOVED TO THE NEAREST CONTROL JOINT.

31 20 00  EARTH MOVING

A. CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL DIGGER'S HOT LINE  AND CONDUCT A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATE AS REQUIRED TO ENSURE

THAT ALL UTILITIES HAVE BEEN LOCATED BEFORE STARTING EXCAVATION.  DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED

OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN PLAN AND FIELD CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

B. PROVIDE ALL LABOR, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT FOR ALL EXCAVATION, GRADING, FILL AND BACKFILL WORK AS

REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE GENERAL CONSTRUCTION WORK.  ALL EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL FOR ELECTRICALS

AND MECHANICALS ARE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE RESPECTIVE CONTRACTOR.

C. ALL ORGANIC TOPSOIL INSIDE THE BUILDING AREA, UNDER PAVED AREAS, AND AT SITE FILL AREAS SHALL BE

REMOVED.  PROOF ROLL SUBGRADES BEFORE PLACING FILL WITH HEAVY PNEUMATIC-TIRED EQUIPMENT, SUCH AS

A FULLY-LOADED TANDEM AXLE DUMP TRUCK, TO IDENTIFY SOFT POCKETS AND AREAS OF EXCESS YIELDING.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY TOPSOIL DEPTHS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND

FOLLOW THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT AND ACCOUNT FOR EXISTING CONDITIONS

PRIOR TO SUBMITTING BID FOR THE PROJECT.  EXCESS MATERIALS SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE UNLESS

OTHERWISE DIRECTED IN THE PLANS OR BY LOCAL ZONING REQUIREMENTS.

D. PLACE AND COMPACT FILL MATERIAL IN LAYERS TO REQUIRED ELEVATIONS. UNIFORMLY MOISTEN OR AERATE

SUBGRADE AND EACH SUBSEQUENT FILL OR BACKFILL LAYER BEFORE COMPACTION AS RECOMMENDED TO

ACHIEVE SPECIFIED DRY DENSITY.  REMOVE AND REPLACE, OR SCARIFY AND AIR DRY, OTHERWISE SATISFACTORY

SOIL MATERIAL THAT IS TOO WET TO COMPACT TO SPECIFIED DRY DENSITY.

E. PLACE BACKFILL AND FILL MATERIALS IN LAYERS NOT MORE THAN 8" IN LOOSE DEPTH FOR MATERIAL COMPACTED

BY HEAVY COMPACTION EQUIPMENT, AND NOT MORE THAN 4"  IN LOOSE DEPTH FOR MATERIAL COMPACTED BY

HAND-OPERATED TAMPERS.

F. COMPACT THE SOIL TO NOT LESS THAN THE FOLLOWING PERCENTAGES OF MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY ACCORDING TO

ASTM D 698, STANDARD PROCTOR TEST. FILL MAY NOT BE PLACED ON FROZEN GROUND AND NO FROZEN

MATERIALS MAY BE USED FOR BACK FILL.  APPLY THE MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS WHEN COMPARING

BETWEEN THE FOLLOWING AND THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

1. UNDER FOUNDATIONS - SUBGRADE, AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL, TO NOT LESS THAN 98

PERCENT.

2. UNDER INTERIOR SLAB-ON-GRADE WHERE GROUNDWATER IS MORE THAN 3 FEET BELOW THE SLAB - PLACE A

DRAINAGE COURSE LAYER OF 3/4" CRUSHED STONE, WITH 5% TO 12% FINES, PER THICKNESS INDICATED ON

FOUNDATION PLANS ON PREPARED SUBGRADE. COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND DRAINAGE COURSE TO NOT

LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

3. UNDER INTERIOR SLAB-ON-GRADE WHERE GROUNDWATER IS WITHIN 3 FEET OF THE SLAB SURFACE- PLACE A

DRAINAGE COURSE LAYER OF CLEAN 3/4" CRUSHED STONE, WITH NO MORE THAN 5% FINES, PER THICKNESS

INDICATED ON FOUNDATION PLANS ON PREPARED SUBGRADE. COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND DRAINAGE

COURSE TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

4. UNDER EXTERIOR CONCRETE AND ASPHALT PAVEMENTS - COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF

BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

5. UNDER WALKWAYS - COMPACT SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL TO NOT LESS

THAN 95 PERCENT.

6. UNDER LAWN OR UNPAVED AREAS - COMPACT SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL,

TO NOT LESS THAN 85 PERCENT.

G. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENGAGE A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT TESTING AND INSPECTING AGENCY TO PERFORM FIELD

TESTS AND INSPECTIONS. IT IS SUGGESTED THAT THE GEOTECHNICAL FIRM USED TO PERFORM THE SUBSURFACE

SOIL INVESTIGATION BE ENGAGED FOR THE FIELD QUALITY CONTROL TESTS. THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT WAS

PERFORMED BY TBD.

H. ALLOW THE TESTING AGENCY TO TEST AND INSPECT SUBGRADES AND EACH FILL OR BACKFILL LAYER.  PROCEED

WITH SUBSEQUENT EARTHWORK ONLY AFTER TEST RESULTS FOR PREVIOUSLY COMPLETED WORK COMPLY WITH

REQUIREMENTS. PROVIDE ONE TEST FOR EVERY 2000 SQUARE FEET OF PAVED AREA OR BUILDING SLAB, ONE TEST

FOR EACH SPREAD FOOTING, AND ONE TEST FOR EVERY 50 LINEAR FEET OF WALL STRIP FOOTING.

I. WHEN THE TESTING AGENCY REPORTS THAT SUBGRADES, FILLS, OR BACKFILLS HAVE NOT ACHIEVED DEGREE OF

COMPACTION  SPECIFIED, SCARIFY AND MOISTEN OR AERATE, OR REMOVE AND REPLACE SOIL TO DEPTH

REQUIRED; RECOMPACT AND  RETEST UNTIL SPECIFIED COMPACTION IS OBTAINED.

J. THE BUILDING SITE SHALL BE GRADED TO PROVIDE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM THE BUILDING AS INDICATED ON THE

PLANS. SITE EARTHWORK SHALL BE GRADED TO WITHIN 0.10' OF REQUIRED EARTHWORK ELEVATIONS ASSUMING

POSITIVE DRAINAGE IS MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GRADING PLAN.

31 30 00  EROSION CONTROL/STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

A. THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL PREPARE A SITE SPECIFIC EROSION CONTROL AND A STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

PLAN PURSUANT TO NR 216.46 AND NR 216.47.  THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL ALSO FILE A CONSTRUCTION NOTICE

OF INTENT WITH THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES PURSUANT TO NR 216.43 OR TO AN

AUTHORIZED LOCAL PROGRAM PURSUANT TO NR 216.415 TO OBTAIN COVERAGE UNDER THE GENERAL WPDES

STORM WATER PERMIT.

B. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL KEEP THE NOTICE OF INTENT PERMIT, APPROVED EROSION CONTROL AND STORMWATER

MANAGEMENT PLANS, AND PLAN AMENDMENTS ON THE CONSTRUCTION SITE AT ALL TIMES UNTIL PERMIT

COVERAGE IS TERMINATED.

C. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL LOCAL EROSION CONTROL PERMITS.

D. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR MEETING THE MONITORING, MAINTENANCE, AND REPORTING

REQUIREMENTS OF NR 216.48.  INSPECTIONS OF IMPLEMENTED EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL BEST

MANAGEMENT PRACTICES MUST AT A MINIMUM BE INSPECTED EVERY 7 DAYS AND WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER A

PRECIPITATION EVENT OF 0.5" OR MORE.  A PRECIPITATION EVENT MAY BE CONSIDERED TO BE THE TOTAL AMOUNT

OF PRECIPITATION RECORDED IN ANY CONTINUOUS 24-HOUR PERIOD.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR

REPLACE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL AS NECESSARY WITHIN 24 HOURS OF AN INSPECTION OR AFTER A

DEPARTMENT NOTIFICATION WHERE REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT IS REQUESTED.

E. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN, AT THE CONSTRUCTION SITE, WEEKLY WRITTEN REPORTS OF ALL INSPECTIONS

CONDUCTED.  WISCONSIN DNR CONSTRUCTION SITE INSPECTION REPORT FORM 3400-187 SHALL BE USED.  WEEKLY

INSPECTION REPORTS SHALL INCLUDE ALL OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. THE DATE, TIME, AND EXACT LOCATION OF THE CONSTRUCTION SITE INSPECTION.

2. THE NAME OF THE INDIVIDUAL WHO PERFORMED THE INSPECTION.

3. AN ASSESSMENT OF THE CONDITION OF THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS.

4. A DESCRIPTION OF ANY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IMPLEMENTATION AND MAINTENANCE PERFORMED.

5. A DESCRIPTION OF THE PRESENT PHASE OF LAND DISTURBING CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY AT THE

CONSTRUCTION SITE.

F. EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IMPLEMENTED DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL STRICTLY COMPLY WITH THE

GUIDELINES AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (W.A.C.) NR 151, THE STATE OF

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES RUNOFF MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.

TECHNICAL STANDARDS PUBLISHED BY THE WISCONSIN DNR SHALL ALSO BE UTILIZED TO IMPLEMENT THE

REQUIRED PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  THE METHODS AND TYPES OF EROSION CONTROL WILL BE DEPENDENT ON

THE LOCATION AND TYPE OF WORK INVOLVED.  ALL SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE ADJUSTED TO MEET

FIELD CONDITIONS AT THE TIME OF CONSTRUCTION, AND INSTALLED PRIOR TO ANY GRADING OR DISTURBANCE OF

EXISTING SURFACE MATERIAL.  BELOW IS A LIST OF EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL BEST MANAGEMENT

PRACTICES TO ACHIEVE THE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS REQUIRED.

1. SILT FENCE SHALL BE PLACED ON SITE AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN.  SILT FENCE

SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED AROUND THE PERIMETER OF ALL SOIL STOCKPILES.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND

IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1056.

2. DITCH CHECKS SHALL BE PROVIDED TO REDUCE THE VELOCITY OF WATER FLOWING IN DITCH BOTTOMS.

PLACE AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN

DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1062

3. STONE TRACKING PADS SHALL BE PLACED AT ALL CONSTRUCTION SITE ENTRANCES AND SHALL BE INSTALLED

PRIOR TO ANY TRAFFIC LEAVING THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  SEE THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN FOR

LOCATIONS.  THE AGGREGATE USED SHALL BE 3 TO 6 INCH CLEAR OR WASHED STONE, AND SHALL BE PLACED

IN A LAYER AT LEAST 12 INCHES THICK.  THE STONE SHALL BE UNDERLAIN WITH A WISDOT TYPE R GEOTEXTILE

FABRIC.  THE TRACKING PAD SHALL BE THE FULL WIDTH OF THE EGRESS POINT, AND SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF

50 FEET LONG.  SURFACE WATER MUST BE PREVENTED FROM PASSING THROUGH THE TRACKING PAD.

FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057.

4. STORM DRAIN INLET PROTECTION SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR ALL NEW AND DOWNSTREAM STORM CATCH

BASINS AND CURB INLETS.  TYPE B OR C PROTECTION SHOULD BE PROVIDED AND SHALL BE IN CONFORMANCE

WITH WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1060.

5. DUST CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE PROVIDED TO REDUCE OR PREVENT THE SURFACE AND AIR TRANSPORT

OF DUST DURING CONSTRUCTION.  CONTROL MEASURES INCLUDE APPLYING MULCH AND ESTABLISHING

VEGETATION, WATER SPRAYING, SURFACE ROUGHENING, APPLYING POLYMERS, SPRAY-ON TACKIFIERS,

CHLORIDES, AND BARRIERS.  SOME SITES MAY REQUIRE AN APPROACH THAT UTILIZES A COMBINATION OF

MEASURES FOR DUST CONTROL. FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD

1068.

6. THE USE, STORAGE, AND DISPOSAL OF CHEMICALS, CEMENT, AND OTHER COMPOUNDS AND MATERIALS USED

ON SITE SHALL BE MANAGED DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD TO PREVENT THEIR TRANSPORT BY RUNOFF

INTO WATERS OF THE STATE.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AN OPEN AGGREGATE CONCRETE TRUCK WASHOUT AREA ON SITE.

CONTRACTOR TO ENSURE THAT CONCRETE WASHOUT SHALL BE CONTAINED TO THIS DESIGNATED AREA AND

NOT BE ALLOWED TO RUN INTO STORM INLETS OR INTO THE OVERLAND STORMWATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM.

WASHOUT AREA SHALL BE REMOVED UPON COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION.

8. TEMPORARY SITE RESTORATION SHALL TAKE PLACE IN DISTURBED AREAS THAT WILL NOT BE BROUGHT TO

FINAL GRADE OR ON WHICH LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITIES WILL NOT BE PERFORMED FOR A PERIOD GREATER

THAN 14 DAYS AND REQUIRES VEGETATIVE COVER FOR LESS THAN ONE YEAR.  THIS TEMPORARY SITE

RESTORATION REQUIREMENT ALSO APPLIES TO SOIL STOCKPILES.  PERMANENT RESTORATION APPLIES TO

AREAS WHERE PERENNIAL VEGETATIVE COVER IS NEEDED TO PERMANENTLY STABILIZE AREAS OF EXPOSED

SOIL.  PERMANENT STABILIZATION SHALL OCCUR WITHIN 3 WORKING DAYS OF FINAL GRADING.  TOPSOIL, SEED,

AND MULCH SHALL BE IN GENERAL CONFORMANCE WITH TECHNICAL STANDARDS 1058 AND 1059 AND SHALL

MEET THE SPECIFICATIONS FOUND IN THE LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION SECTION OF THIS

CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENT. ANY SOIL EROSION THAT OCCURS AFTER FINAL GRADING AND/OR FINAL

STABILIZATION MUST BE REPAIRED AND THE STABILIZATION WORK REDONE.

9. IF SITE DEWATERING IS REQUIRED TO REMOVE SEDIMENT FROM CONSTRUCTION SITE STORMWATER PRIOR TO

DISCHARGING OFF-SITE OR TO WATERS OF THE STATE, FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN TECHNICAL

STANDARD 1061.

10. ALL OFF-SITE SEDIMENT DEPOSITS OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF CONSTRUCTION WORK OR A STORM EVENT

SHALL BE CLEANED UP BY THE END OF EACH WORKING DAY.  FLUSHING SHALL NOT BE ALLOWED.

G. EROSION CONTROL MEASURES SHALL NOT BE REMOVED UNTIL THE AREA(S) SERVED HAVE ESTABLISHED

VEGETATIVE COVER.

H. ONCE THE CONSTRUCTION SITE HAS BEEN FULLY STABILIZED AND TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL BEST

MANAGEMENT PRACTICES HAVE BEEN REMOVED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FILE A CONSTRUCTION NOTICE OF

TERMINATION WITH THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES.

I. AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL GIVE THE OWNER COPIES OF THE EROSION

CONTROL AND STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS, AMENDMENTS TO PLANS, SUPPORTING PLAN DATA, AND

CONSTRUCTION SITE EROSION CONTROL INSPECTION REPORTS. THE OWNER SHALL RETAIN THESE FOR A PERIOD

OF 3 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF TERMINATING COVERAGE UNDER WPDES GENERAL PERMIT.

J. ALL POST CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED

BEFORE THE SITE HAS UNDERGONE FINAL STABILIZATION.

DIVISION 32  EXTERIOR IMPROVEMENTS

32 10 00  AGGREGATE BASE & ASPHALT PAVEMENT

A. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE COMPACTED AGGREGATE BASE AND HOT MIX ASPHALT PAVEMENT WHERE INDICATED

ON THE PLANS.  ALL AGGREGATE PROVIDED MUST COMPLY WITH SECTION 305 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD

SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.  PROVIDE HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE TYPES PER

SECTION 460 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.

CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE AGGREGATE BASE AND HOT MIX ASPHALT PAVEMENT TYPES AND DEPTHS AS INDICATED

BELOW:

STANDARD ASPHALT PAVING HEAVY ASPHALT PAVING

1-1/2” SURFACE COURSE (5 LT 58-28 S) 1-1/2” SURFACE COURSE (5 LT 58-28-S)

2-1/2” BINDER COURSE (3 LT 58-28 S) 3” BINDER COURSE (3 LT 58-28 S)

10” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE 12” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE

B. CONTRACTOR TO COMPACT THE AGGREGATE BASE, ASPHALT BINDER COURSE, AND ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE

TO AN AVERAGE DENSITY PER WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE

CONSTRUCTION.  ALL ASPHALT PAVEMENT AREAS SHALL BE PAVED TO WITHIN 0.10' OF DESIGN SURFACE GRADES

WITH POSITIVE DRAINAGE BEING MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH DESIGN PLANS.  A MINIMUM OF 1% SLOPE

SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN ALL ASPHALT PAVEMENT AREA.

C. HOT MIX ASPHALT CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED PER MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS OF GEOTECHNICAL

REPORT OR CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

D. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 4” WIDE YELLOW PAINTED STRIPING FOR PARKING STALLS, TRAFFIC LANES, AND NO

PARKING AREAS.  YELLOW PAINT MARKINGS SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED FOR H.C. ACCESSIBLE SYMBOLS, TRAFFIC

ARROWS, AND TRAFFIC MESSAGES.

32 20 00  CONCRETE AND AGGREGATE BASE

A.     CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE AND CONCRETE WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

B. ALL AGGREGATE PROVIDED MUST COMPLY WITH SECTION 305 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR

HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION. ALL AGGREGATE PLACED MUST BE COMPACTED TO AN AVERAGE

DENSITY PER WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.

C. DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF ALL CAST-IN-PLACE EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK SHALL CONFORM TO ACI

330R-08.

D. EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED PER MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE

GEOTECHNICAL REPORT OR THIS SPECIFICATION.  CONCRETE FLAT WORK CONSTRUCTION IS AS FOLLOWS:

1. PRIVATE SIDEWALK CONCRETE - 4” OF CONCRETE OVER 4” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE.  CONTRACTION

JOINTS SHALL CONSIST OF 1/8” WIDE BY 1” DEEP TOOLED JOINT WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

2. PUBLIC SIDEWALK CONCRETE - 5” OF CONCRETE OVER 5” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE.  CONTRACTION

JOINTS SHALL CONSIST OF 1/8” WIDE BY 1” DEEP TOOLED JOINT WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

3. DUMPSTER CONCRETE - 8” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE. CONCRETE SHALL BE

REINFORCED WITH 4”X4” W5.5XW5.5 W.W.F.  PROVIDE ALTERNATE FOR #5 BARS AT 16" ON CENTER IN LIEU OF

WIRE MESH.  LOADING DOCK CONCRETE JOINTING SHALL BE AS FOLLOWS:

a. CONTRACTION SAWCUT JOINT -CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A SAWCUT JOINT AT MAXIMUM SPACING

OF 15' ON CENTER.  SAWCUT JOINT SHALL BE 2” IN DEPTH.

b. TYPICAL POUR CONTROL JOINT - POUR CONTROL JOINT SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH 1-1/4” DIAMETER

BY 20” LONG SMOOTH DOWEL PLACED AT 12” ON CENTER.  ONE HALF OF THE DOWEL SHALL BE

GREASED.  GREENSTREAK 9” SPEED DOWEL TUBES SHALL BE USED.

4. HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE (TRUCK TRAFFIC) - 6” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED

AGGREGATE.  CONCRETE SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH 6”X6” W2.9XW2.9 W.W.F.  CONTRACTION JOINTS SHALL

BE SAWCUT 1.5” IN DEPTH AND BE SPACED A MAXIMUM OF 15' ON CENTER.

5. 7" LOADING DOCK CONCRETE - SEE ARCHITECTURAL SPECIFICATIONS.

E. DESIGN MIXES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C94

1. STRENGTH TO BE MINIMUM OF 4,500 PSI AT 28 DAYS FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE.

2. SLUMP SHALL NOT EXCEED 4” FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK

3. SLUMP SHALL BE 2.5” OR LESS FOR SLIP-FORMED CURB AND GUTTER

4. SLUMP SHALL BE BETWEEN 1.5” TO 3” FOR NON SLIP-FORMED CURB AND GUTTER.

5. ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE AIR ENTRAINED WITH 4% TO 7% AIR CONTENT.  NO OTHER ADMIXTURES

SHALL BE USED WITHOUT APPROVAL OF EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.  CALCIUM CHLORIDE SHALL NOT BE USED.

6. MAXIMUM AGGREGATE SIZE FOR ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE 0.75 INCHES.

F. ALL EXTERIOR MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT CONCRETE PADS SHALL BE SIZED AND DESIGNED BY THE EQUIPMENT

SUPPLIER.

G. ALL CONCRETE FLAT WORK SURFACES AND CONCRETE CURB FLOWLINES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED TO WITHIN 0.05'

OF DESIGN SURFACE AND FLOWLINE GRADES ASSUMING POSITIVE DRAINAGE IS MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH

THE DESIGN PLANS.

H. CONCRETE FLAT WORK SHALL HAVE CONSTRUCTION JOINTS OR SAW CUT JOINTS PLACED AS INDICATED ON THE

PLANS OR PER THIS SPECIFICATION.  SAWCUTS SHALL BE DONE AS SOON AS POSSIBLE, BUT NO LATER THAN 24

HOURS AFTER CONCRETE IS PLACED.  CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER JOINTING SHALL BE PLACED EVERY 10' OR

CLOSER (6' MIN.).  ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A LIGHT BROOM FINISH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.  A

UNIFORM COAT OF A HIGH SOLIDS CURING COMPOUND MEETING ASTM C309 SHOULD BE APPLIED TO ALL EXPOSED

CONCRETE SURFACES.  ALL CONCRETE IS TO BE CURED FOR 7 DAYS.  EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE SEPARATED

FROM BUILDINGS WITH CONTINUOUS 0.5 INCH FIBER EXPANSION JOINT AND/OR 0.25 INCH FIBER EXPANSION JOINT

AT DECORATIVE MASONRY UNITS.

I. ALL REINFORCING BARS SHALL BE ASTM A615 GRADE 60.  THICKNESS OF CONCRETE COVER OVER REINFORCEMENT

SHALL BE NOT LESS THAN 3” WHERE CONCRETE IS DEPOSITED AGAINST THE GROUND WITHOUT THE USE OF FORMS

AND NOT LESS THAN 1.5” IN ALL OTHER LOCATIONS.  ALL REINFORCING SHALL BE LAPPED 36 DIAMETERS FOR UP

TO #6 BARS, 60 DIAMETERS FOR #7 TO #10 BARS OR AS NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS AND EXTENDED AROUND

CORNERS WITH CORNER BARS.  PLACING AND DETAILING OF STEEL REINFORCING AND REINFORCING SUPPORTS

SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CRSI AND ACI MANUAL AND STANDARD PRACTICES.  THE REINFORCEMENT SHALL

NOT BE PAINTED AND MUST BE FREE OF GREASE/OIL, DIRT OR DEEP RUST WHEN PLACED IN THE WORK.  ALL

WELDED WIRE FABRIC SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM A 185.  WELDED WIRE FABRIC SHALL BE

PLACED 2” FROM TOP OF SLAB, UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE.

J. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENGAGE A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT TESTING AND INSPECTING AGENCY TO SAMPLE

MATERIALS, PERFORM TESTS, AND SUBMIT TEST REPORTS DURING CONCRETE PLACEMENT.  TESTS WILL BE

PERFORMED ACCORDING TO ACI 301.  CAST AND LABORATORY CURE ONE SET OF FOUR STANDARD CYLINDERS FOR

EACH COMPOSITE SAMPLE FOR EACH DAY'S POUR OF EACH CONCRETE MIX EXCEEDING 5 CU. YD., BUT LESS THAN

25 CU. YD., PLUS ONE SET FOR EACH ADDITIONAL 50 CU. YD. OR FRACTION THEREOF. PERFORM

COMPRESSIVE-STRENGTH TESTS ACCORDING TO ASTM C 39. TEST TWO SPECIMENS AT 7 DAYS AND TWO

SPECIMENS AT 28 DAYS. PERFORM SLUMP TESTING ACCORDING TO ASTM C 143. PROVIDE ONE TEST AT POINT OF

PLACEMENT FOR EACH COMPOSITE SAMPLE, BUT NOT LESS THAN ONE TEST FOR EACH DAY'S POUR OF EACH

CONCRETE MIX. PERFORM ADDITIONAL TESTS WHEN CONCRETE CONSISTENCY APPEARS TO CHANGE.

K. PROTECT FRESHLY PLACED CONCRETE FROM PREMATURE DRYING AND EXCESSIVE COLD OR HOT TEMPERATURES.

IN HOT, DRY, AND WINDY WEATHER, APPLY AN EVAPORATION-CONTROL COMPOUND ACCORDING TO

MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS AFTER SCREEDING AND BULL FLOATING, BUT BEFORE POWER FLOATING AND

TROWELLING.

L.  LIMIT MAXIMUM WATER-CEMENTIOUS RATIO OF CONCRETE EXPOSED TO FREEZING, THAWING AND DEICING SALTS

TO 0.45.

M. TEST RESULTS WILL BE REPORTED IN WRITING TO THE DESIGN ENGINEER, READY-MIX PRODUCER, AND

CONTRACTOR WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER TESTS.  REPORTS OF COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH TESTS SHALL CONTAIN THE

PROJECT IDENTIFICATION NAME AND NUMBER, DATE OF CONCRETE PLACEMENT, NAME OF CONCRETE TESTING

SERVICE, CONCRETE TYPE AND CLASS, LOCATION OF CONCRETE BATCH IN STRUCTURE, DESIGN COMPRESSIVE

STRENGTH AT 28 DAYS, CONCRETE MIX PROPORTIONS AND MATERIALS, COMPRESSIVE BREAKING STRENGTH, AND

TYPE OF BREAK FOR BOTH 7-DAY TESTS AND 28-DAY TESTS.

N. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 4” WIDE YELLOW PAINTED STRIPING FOR PARKING STALLS, TRAFFIC LANES, AND NO

PARKING AREAS.  YELLOW PAINT MARKINGS SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED FOR H.C. ACCESSIBLE SYMBOLS, TRAFFIC

ARROWS, AND TRAFFIC MESSAGES.

32 30 00  LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION

A. TOPSOIL:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM OF 6” OF TOPSOIL FOR ALL DISTURBED OPEN AREAS.  REUSE

SURFACE SOIL STOCKPILED ON SITE AND SUPPLEMENT WITH IMPORTED OR MANUFACTURED TOPSOIL FROM OFF

SITE SOURCES WHEN QUANTITIES ARE INSUFFICIENT.  PROVIDE SOIL ANALYSIS BY A QUALIFIED SOIL TESTING

LABORATORY AS REQUIRED TO VERIFY THE SUITABILITY OF SOIL TO BE USED AS TOPSOIL AND TO DETERMINE THE

NECESSARY SOIL AMENDMENTS.  TEST SOIL FOR PRESENCE OF ATRAZINE AND INFORM EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

IF PRESENT PRIOR TO BIDDING PROJECT.  TOPSOIL SHALL HAVE A PH RANGE OF 5.5 TO 8, CONTAIN A MINIMUM OF 5

PERCENT ORGANIC MATERIAL CONTENT, AND SHALL BE FREE OF STONES 1 INCH OR LARGER IN DIAMETER.  ALL

MATERIALS HARMFUL TO PLANT GROWTH SHALL ALSO BE REMOVED.

B. TOPSOIL INSTALLATION:  LOOSEN SUBGRADE TO A MINIMUM DEPTH OF 6 INCHES AND REMOVE STONES LARGER

THAN 1” IN DIAMETER.  ALSO REMOVE ANY STICKS, ROOTS, RUBBISH, AND OTHER EXTRANEOUS MATTER AND

DISPOSE OF THEM OFF THE PROPERTY.  SPREAD TOPSOIL TO A DEPTH OF 6” BUT NOT LESS THAN WHAT IS

REQUIRED TO MEET FINISHED GRADES AFTER LIGHT ROLLING AND NATURAL SETTLEMENT.  DO NOT SPREAD

TOPSOIL IF SUBGRADE IS FROZEN, MUDDY, OR EXCESSIVELY WET.  GRADE PLANTING AREAS TO A SMOOTH,

UNIFORM SURFACE PLANE WITH LOOSE, UNIFORMLY FINE TEXTURE.  GRADE TO WITHIN 0.05 FEET OF FINISHED

GRADE ELEVATION.

C. SEEDED LAWNS:

1. PERMANENT LAWN AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED WITH THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  65% KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS

BLEND (2.0-2.6 LBS./1,000 S.F.), 20% PERENNIAL RYEGRASS (0.6-0.8 LBS./1,000 S.F.), 15% FINE FESCUE (0.4-0.6

LBS/1,000 S.F.).  STRAW AND MULCH SHALL BE LAID AT 100LBS/1,000 S.F.  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY

5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS/1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED. ALL SITE

DISTURBED AREAS NOT DESIGNATED FOR OTHER LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION METHODS SHALL BE

SEEDED AS PERMANENT LAWN.  NO BARE TOPSOIL SHALL BE LEFT ONSITE.

2. ALL PERMANENT AND TEMPORARY STORM WATER CONVEYANCE SWALE BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS WELL

AS STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES SHALL BE SEEDED WITH THE FOLLOWING

MIXTURE:  45% KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS (0.60 LBS./1000 S.F.), 40% CREEPING RED FESCUE (0.50 LBS./1,000 S.F.),

AND 15% PERENNIAL RYEGRASS (0.20 LBS./1,000 S.F.).  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR

EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS./1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED.

3. ALL TEMPORARY SEEDING SHALL CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  100% RYEGRASS AT 1.9 LBS./1,000

S.F.  STRAW AND MULCH SHALL BE LAID AT 100 LBS./1,000 S.F.  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10

OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS./1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED.

C. SEEDED LAWN MAINTENANCE:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE MAINTENANCE OF ALL LANDSCAPING FOR A PERIOD OF

90 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF INSTALLATION.  AT THE END OF THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD, A HEALTHY, UNIFORM,

CLOSE STAND OF GRASS SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED FREE OF WEEDS AND SURFACE IRREGULARITIES.  LAWN

COVERAGE SHOULD EXCEED 90% AND BARE SPOTS SHOULD NOT EXCEED 5”X5”.  CONTRACTOR SHOULD

REESTABLISH LAWNS THAT DO NOT COMPLY WITH THESE REQUIREMENTS AND CONTINUE MAINTENANCE UNTIL

LAWNS ARE SATISFACTORY.

D. EROSION MATTING:

1. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE EROSION CONTROL MATTING (NORTH AMERICAN GREEN S150) OR EQUIVALENT ON

ALL SLOPES THAT ARE 4:1 AND GREATER OUTSIDE OF STORMWATER CONVEYANCE SWALES AND

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASINS.

2. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE EROSION MATTING (NORTH AMERICAN GREEN C125) OR EQUIVALENT IN ALL SWALE

BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS WELL AS STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES.

E. BIOFILTRATION & INFILTRATION BASIN SEEDING:  BOTTOM AND SIDE SLOPES OF BIOFILTRATION AND INFILTRATION

BASINS SHALL BE SEEDED WITH NATIVE WET PRAIRIE AND UPLAND PRAIRIE MIX.  SEEDING SPECIFICATIONS BY SEED

SUPPLIER.

F. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT POND SAFETY SHELF SEEDING:  SAFETY SHELF SHALL BE SEEDED WITH A WET

PRAIRIE EMERGENT PLANT TYPE MIX.

G. RIP RAP:  ALL RIP RAP ASSOCIATED WITH STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND STORMWATER CONVEYANCE, AS

DELINEATED ON THE PLANS, SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH THE TOP OF RIP RAP MATCHING THE PROPOSED

ADJACENT GRADE ELEVATIONS.  PLACEMENT OF RIP RAP ABOVE THE PROPOSED ADJACENT GRADE ELEVATIONS IS

NOT ACCEPTABLE.  ALL RIP RAP SHALL BE PLACED ON TYPE HR FILTER FABRIC PER SECTION 645 OF THE WISCONSIN

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURAL CONSTRUCTION.

H. TREES AND SHRUBS:  SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

I. TREE AND SHRUB INSTALLATION:  SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

J. TREE AND SHRUB MAINTENANCE/WARRANTY:  SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

K. MINERAL MULCH:  SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

L. PLASTIC EDGING:  SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS

DIVISION 33  UTILITIES

33 10 00  PRIVATE SITE UTILITIES
A. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY PIPE

LOCATIONS, SIZES, AND DEPTHS AT POINT OF PROPOSED CONNECTIONS AND VERIFY PROPOSED UTILITY ROUTES

ARE CLEAR (PER CODE) OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES AND OTHER OBSTRUCTIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  COSTS

INCURRED FOR FAILURE TO DO SO SHALL BE THE CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY.

B. PROPOSED SANITARY PIPE SHALL BE SDR-35 PVC

C. CLEANOUTS SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE SANITARY SERVICE AT LOCATIONS INDICATED ON THE UTILITY PLAN.

THE CLEANOUT SHALL CONSIST OF A COMBINATION WYE FITTING IN LINE WITH THE SANITARY SERVICE WITH THE

CLEANOUT LEG OF THE COMBINATION WYE FACING STRAIGHT UP.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL CONSIST OF

A (4” OR 6”) VERTICAL PVC PIPE WITH A WATER TIGHT REMOVABLE CLEANOUT PLUG.  AN 8” PVC FROST SLEEVE

SHALL BE PROVIDED.  THE BOTTOM OF THE FROST SLEEVE SHALL TERMINATE 12” ABOVE THE TOP OF THE SANITARY

LATERAL OR AT LEAST 6” BELOW THE PREDICTED FROST DEPTH, WHICHEVER IS SHALLOWER.  THE CLEANOUT

SHALL EXTEND JUST ABOVE THE SURFACE GRADE IN LAWN OR LANDSCAPE AREAS WITH THE FROST SLEEVE

TERMINATING AT THE GRADE SURFACE.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL EXTEND TO 4 INCHES BELOW SURFACE GRADE IN

PAVED SURFACES WITH A ZURN (Z-1474-N) HEAVY DUTY CLEANOUT HOUSING PLACED OVER THE TOP OF THE

CLEANOUT FLUSH WITH THE SURFACE GRADE.    IN PAVED SURFACES, THE FROST SLEEVE SHALL TERMINATE IN A

CONCRETE PAD AT LEAST 6” THICK AND EXTENDING AT LEAST 9” FROM THE SLEEVE ON ALL SIDES, SLOPING AWAY

FROM THE SLEEVE.  THE CLEANOUT HOUSING SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED PER MANUFACTURERS REQUIREMENTS.

D. PROPOSED WATER PIPE SHALL BE C906 PE FOR PIPE DIAMETERS OF 4” OR LESS, C900 PVC FOR PIPE DIAMETERS

OF 6” THROUGH 12”, AND C-905 PVC FOR PIPE DIAMETERS OF 14” THROUGH 36”.  6.5' MINIMUM COVER SHALL BE

PROVIDED OVER ALL WATER PIPING UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.

E. PROPOSED HDPE STORM PIPE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM F2648.  ALL CONCRETE STORM PIPING SHALL

BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C14 AND ASTM C76.  SEE UTILITY PLANS FOR ALL STORM PIPE MATERIAL TYPES TO

BE USED.  PIPE SHALL BE PLACED MIN. 8' HORIZONTALLY FROM FOUNDATION WALLS.

F. SANITARY, STORM, AND WATER UTILITY PIPE INVERTS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITHIN 0.10' OF DESIGN INVERT

ELEVATIONS ASSUMING PIPE SLOPE AND SEPARATION IS MAINTAINED PER THE UTILITY DESIGN PLANS AND STATE

REQUIREMENTS.

G. SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN SANITARY SERVICE TO A POINT WHICH IS A MINIMUM OF 5' FROM THE

EXTERIOR WALL OF THE FOUNDATION.  SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN WATER SERVICE TO A POINT WITHIN

THE FOUNDATION SPECIFIED BY THE PLUMBING PLANS.  CONTRACTOR TO CUT AND CAP WATER SERVICE 12” ABOVE

FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION.

H. UTILITIES SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH PLASTIC COATED TRACER WIRE (10 TO 14 GAUGE SOLID COPPER, OR COPPER

COATED STEEL WIRE).  PLASTIC WIRE MAY BE TAPED TO PLASTIC WATER OR SEWER PIPE.  IF ATTACHED, THE

TRACER WIRE SHALL BE SECURED EVERY 6 TO 20 FEET AND AT ALL BENDS.  TRACER WIRE SHALL HAVE ACCESS

POINTS AT LEAST EVERY 300 FEET.

I. UTILITIES SHALL BE INSTALLED PER STATE, LOCAL, AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS.  WATER, SANITARY, AND STORM

SEWER SHALL BE INSTALLED PER "STANDARD SPECIFICATION FOR SEWER AND WATER CONSTRUCTION IN

WISCONSIN". THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING STATE PLUMBING REVIEW APPROVAL.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL OTHER PERMITS REQUIRED TO INSTALL WATER, SANITARY

AND STORM SEWER.

J. SEE PLANS FOR ALL OTHER UTILITY SPECIFICATIONS AND DETAILS.

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

52 of 68



©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97
NO

T 
FO

R 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

O
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

53 of 68



©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97
NO

T 
FO

R 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

O
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

54 of 68



©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97
NO

T 
FO

R 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

O
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

55 of 68



©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97
NO

T 
FO

R 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

O
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

56 of 68



©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
NC

.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97
NO

T 
FO

R 
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

O
N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

57 of 68



0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.9

1.6

1.7

2.0

1.2

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.6

3.4

4.4

4.7

5.2

5.0

4.7

3.7

3.0

2.2

1.3

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.6

1.0

2.0

1.2

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.7

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.9

6.2

5.1

5.2

3.8

2.8

2.0

1.3

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.9

1.6

1.4

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

2.0

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

3.3

1.5

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.1

4.7

2.1

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.1

2.1

5.8

3.4

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.5

3.2

7.5

5.0

2.2

1.0

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.4

3.3

6.7

2.6

3.3

5.3

2.0

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.1

1.8

5.9

2.2

2.9

3.9

5.5

3.6

1.6

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.9

4.3

4.1

3.4

2.3

2.0

2.1

3.9

6.7

4.8

2.3

2.0

2.3

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

3.0

8.4

5.1

3.2

3.5

2.9

1.7

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.7

9.0

5.9

5.8

4.5

0.9

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.9

8.8

3.5

1.9

1.9

2.1

1.7

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

7.2

4.5

1.9

1.5

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

1.1

5.8

5.1

1.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.8

2.3

3.5

4.4

1.8

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

1.1

3.9

3.3

4.5

2.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.4

4.8

3.2

5.4

2.4

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

1.5

4.3

3.2

5.1

2.5

1.1

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.0

2.1

3.9

3.9

4.5

1.4

2.2

3.3

4.6

4.1

1.6

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

1.3

2.3

5.8

4.7

4.5

4.0

1.8

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

1.2

3.1

5.1

5.1

5.1

2.8

1.4

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.8

3.7

4.0

4.3

2.6

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.1

0.7

0.8

1.8

2.8

2.3

1.5

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

1.5

4.7

4.3

4.1

3.5

4.8

2.6

0.8

1.1

1.5

2.1

2.9

2.0

2.3

5.0

4.8

4.0

2.9

1.8

1.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

1.3

4.7

4.4

4.0

3.2

4.3

2.3

0.8

1.1

1.9

3.6

5.8

7.7

7.7

6.2

4.7

4.1

2.8

1.6

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

1.3

3.6

3.0

4.4

3.8

2.6

2.9

1.9

1.1

1.7

4.2

8.1

6.3

5.0

4.2

2.9

1.6

0.7

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

1.4

2.5

3.2

2.8

2.4

2.8

4.1

6.6

5.7

4.3

2.5

1.1

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.5

2.7

2.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

3.8

2.1

0.9

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.9

1.4

1.6

1.6

1.9

3.1

3.0

0.5

0.6

0.8

7.7

7.6

7.6

2.3

2.3

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.3

1.3

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

1.0

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.1

2.4

2.5

2.2

2.2

2.9

3.8

12.6

13.0

12.4

3.9

3.6

4.7

3.0

0.7

1.0

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.6

3.3

2.5

2.6

3.0

3.6

1.1

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.4

1.8

2.1

2.5

2.8

2.9

2.1

2.7

2.7

4.5

4.7

4.9

5.3

6.2

4.3

7.3

11.4

13.6

14.0

11.8

12.8

13.0

14.2

14.1

13.8

14.6

17.9

11.8

14.0

13.9

12.6

2.6

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.2

2.5

2.7

4.8

5.7

3.7

3.9

4.5

5.5

1.9

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.5

2.7

2.8

2.9

3.5

6.3

8.1

4.3

5.0

4.9

4.9

4.4

4.0

4.4

5.0

5.1

5.2

5.7

10.9

5.4

4.9

5.2

2.5

2.2

2.2

2.5

2.7

2.8

3.5

6.7

8.2

4.9

5.2

2.5

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

1.1

1.7

5.6

2.2

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.3

2.4

6.0

2.8

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

2.1

3.6

4.9

7.0

5.8

3.5

1.7

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

1.2

2.3

4.0

3.5

8.0

4.6

2.5

1.7

1.0

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

1.4

1.8

1.2

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.0

1.5

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.6

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

2.1

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

3.1

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

4.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

5.6

1.6

1.1

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

6.1

2.7

1.4

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

2.1

7.0

5.5

3.9

1.6

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

6.2

3.0

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

5.8

1.7

1.2

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

4.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

3.4

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.9

2.5

1.1

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.1

2.0

1.1

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.0

1.4

1.7

1.1

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.5

1.9

1.7

1.1

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.8

2.0

2.9

1.8

1.2

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

2.0

3.8

1.9

1.2

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.7

3.4

1.8

1.2

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.3

1.6

1.1

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.3

2.8

4.2

2.1

1.8

1.5

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.8

3.1

2.8

2.3

2.6

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.4

1.9

1.7

2.1

1.4

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.7

1.0

1.7

1.8

1.5

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.6

2.6

3.9

5.0

5.2

4.7

5.5

5.0

4.9

5.1

4.4

3.2

1.9

3.2

4.9

4.9

6.1

2.3

2.6

3.3

4.6

5.2

5.6

6.5

6.0

5.2

4.5

3.7

2.9

1.5

3.1

4.3

5.5

5.0

6.1

6.2

5.2

5.7

4.9

3.7

2.8

2.6

3.2

4.9

5.8

5.9

6.4

6.0

5.3

4.4

3.5

2.6

1.8

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.2

2.8

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.9

2.1

3.7

4.1

4.8

5.0

5.8

5.9

5.0

4.8

4.3

3.6

2.9

2.6

2.7

3.5

5.0

4.1

4.1

3.9

3.6

3.3

2.7

2.2

1.6

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.7

2.4

2.5

3.6

2.6

2.2

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.0

0.8

1.5

3.6

6.0

5.8

6.7

6.4

6.1

5.9

5.3

5.1

4.4

4.0

3.3

2.6

2.6

2.8

4.9

3.1

2.7

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.5

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.3

2.9

3.8

4.2

3.8

3.4

2.4

2.0

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.1

2.0

4.9

9.3

9.1

11.2

9.1

7.9

7.3

8.0

6.6

5.8

5.0

4.4

4.0

4.1

5.1

6.9

4.1

2.7

1.9

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

1.8

2.1

2.7

3.4

3.6

4.8

4.7

6.1

4.8

3.0

2.6

2.3

2.3

2.4

1.2

1.2

2.3

3.1

4.6

1.5

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

1.5

1.2

1.3

1.7

2.0

2.4

3.4

5.6

5.6

5.0

4.8

6.7

5.5

3.5

3.6

3.8

4.6

6.1

4.0

2.9

2.9

5.5

3.1

1.5

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

2.3

1.7

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.7

3.7

6.1

6.6

5.4

4.7

6.6

5.3

3.5

3.6

4.0

4.0

3.0

2.1

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.6

4.1

2.6

2.2

2.4

2.5

2.8

3.8

6.3

6.7

5.7

4.8

5.7

4.5

2.7

2.2

6.1

4.4

4.6

4.4

5.6

4.9

4.4

4.3

4.0

5.0

7.2

4.7

3.5

3.0

2.6

2.6

3.5

5.7

5.9

4.8

3.1

2.0

2.1

2.4

3.0

3.7

3.9

5.0

3.5

2.5

2.2

1.9

1.9

2.2

4.7

2.7

2.5

2.4

2.6

3.1

4.0

2.6

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.7

2.2

5.1

3.6

2.9

2.3

2.2

2.7

2.8

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.8

4.9

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.2

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.6

4.2

1.6

1.7

1.9

1.9

1.4

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.4

3.1

1.9

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.2

2.5

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.4

2.3

1.7

1.7

2.2

2.3

2.6

3.0

3.7

3.2

2.7

2.4

2.3

1.8

1.4

2.1

1.8

1.8

2.4

2.5

2.8

3.4

4.7

3.6

3.0

2.6

2.6

2.0

1.4

2.1

2.0

1.9

2.7

3.2

3.3

3.6

4.3

3.7

3.6

3.7

3.0

2.1

1.4

2.1

1.9

2.0

3.0

4.2

4.4

3.6

3.8

4.6

3.3

2.2

1.8

1.9

3.0

4.6

5.7

4.2

5.7

5.1

5.5

5.1

3.4

2.1

1.4

2.5

1.8

2.0

3.0

4.7

5.8

4.4

6.4

4.6

5.3

4.9

3.3

2.1

1.5

2.7

1.9

2.0

3.0

4.3

4.6

3.7

4.1

3.7

4.2

4.3

3.3

2.2

1.5

2.6

1.8

1.9

2.8

3.6

3.6

3.7

4.2

3.7

3.3

3.2

2.9

2.1

1.5

2.8

1.6

1.8

2.5

2.6

2.9

3.6

3.0

2.6

2.6

2.0

1.6

2.9

1.6

1.7

2.2

2.4

2.7

3.3

2.8

2.6

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.3

7.3

6.7

2.8

2.6

2.4

2.2

2.0

2.0

1.3

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.9

2.1

8.1

6.9

7.1

6.9

2.0

2.4

2.4

2.3

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.7

2.0

2.6

3.9

5.4

6.2

6.3

5.9

6.0

6.0

5.4

2.1

2.3

2.4

2.3

2.2

2.2

2.2

3.0

4.0

5.2

6.1

6.1

6.1

5.2

4.3

3.4

2.4

2.4

2.2

2.2

4.4

5.5

6.0

5.9

5.6

4.7

3.2

1.9

2.7

2.4

2.2

2.1

6.4

6.8

6.3

5.5

5.0

3.8

2.0

2.8

3.8

4.3

4.4

4.1

3.4

2.4

2.1

2.1

6.1

7.5

8.4

7.2

5.8

5.6

5.1

2.3

3.3

5.6

6.3

6.6

6.1

4.1

2.8

2.3

2.3

2.6

3.1

3.5

3.6

4.0

6.2

7.9

4.4

4.7

3.5

3.0

2.2

1.6

1.7

2.3

3.1

3.3

3.5

4.4

8.9

5.4

3.8

3.4

3.3

2.8

2.3

2.4

2.9

3.2

3.4

4.1

7.1

9.1

6.2

6.7

7.9

8.6

8.3

6.8

5.3

3.2

3.8

5.1

5.7

6.1

5.5

4.2

3.5

3.2

2.6

2.6

3.2

4.3

5.1

4.7

6.2

7.0

4.9

5.5

4.6

3.4

2.3

1.6

1.7

2.4

3.6

4.6

4.8

4.9

7.4

5.5

4.7

4.8

4.0

3.0

2.4

2.5

3.2

4.2

4.9

5.0

7.2

8.8

7.2

8.2

8.8

8.2

6.8

7.1

5.9

6.0

7.1

5.4

5.6

4.3

3.1

2.2

2.3

3.2

4.6

6.3

5.7

9.4

10.0

6.2

6.7

5.1

3.5

2.3

1.6

1.7

2.5

3.8

5.4

6.0

6.5

9.1

7.9

5.7

5.9

4.3

3.1

2.4

2.6

3.4

4.8

6.1

5.9

9.0

10.1

8.0

9.1

9.1

8.4

3.0

1.8

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.9

3.1

4.7

6.5

6.1

10.0

11.5

6.4

6.8

5.4

3.6

2.3

1.7

1.7

2.5

3.9

5.8

6.6

7.8

11.2

9.3

6.4

6.2

4.5

3.2

2.5

2.6

3.5

5.1

6.8

6.7

12.9

11.9

8.9

9.6

9.6

2.0

2.2

1.8

1.2

0.8

0.8

1.1

2.0

3.2

4.6

5.7

5.4

7.1

7.8

5.5

5.8

5.2

3.7

2.5

1.8

1.8

2.7

4.0

5.5

5.9

6.1

8.3

7.1

5.6

5.8

4.4

3.2

2.6

2.7

3.6

5.0

6.3

6.0

8.9

9.7

7.3

8.3

7.5

4.4

2.5

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.5

2.3

3.3

4.4

4.8

4.9

6.8

8.2

5.1

4.8

4.6

3.7

2.7

2.0

2.1

2.9

4.0

4.9

5.0

5.3

8.6

5.9

5.0

5.0

4.4

3.3

2.8

2.9

3.7

4.8

5.4

5.4

7.1

8.1

5.7

5.8

4.9

3.5

2.4

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.8

2.4

3.1

3.7

4.1

4.2

4.8

7.5

9.3

5.0

4.2

4.0

3.9

3.2

2.8

2.9

3.4

4.0

4.1

4.4

5.4

10.1

6.4

4.6

4.2

4.1

3.8

3.4

3.5

4.0

4.4

4.5

5.0

7.7

8.9

4.9

4.0

3.5

3.3

2.4

1.0

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.3

2.6

4.2

4.8

4.3

4.4

4.4

4.7

7.3

8.4

4.8

4.4

4.2

4.2

4.0

4.5

4.3

4.0

4.3

4.2

4.5

5.2

9.2

6.4

4.7

4.3

4.4

4.6

4.8

4.5

4.4

4.5

4.6

5.1

7.9

8.8

4.5

3.6

3.4

3.4

2.7

1.0

1.7

2.3

2.5

2.9

3.4

6.7

6.9

4.6

4.5

4.5

4.6

5.7

5.9

4.5

4.5

4.3

4.5

4.7

7.2

6.0

4.5

4.4

4.4

4.6

4.8

6.5

5.7

4.6

4.6

4.7

5.4

7.4

5.6

4.8

4.7

4.8

5.1

6.7

6.8

4.3

3.8

3.5

3.6

3.5

1.1

1.8

2.6

2.8

3.1

4.0

8.1

7.8

4.7

4.2

4.2

4.1

4.0

3.8

3.8

4.1

4.0

4.2

5.0

9.4

6.8

4.6

4.1

4.2

4.1

3.9

4.2

4.3

4.2

4.2

4.5

5.6

9.9

6.1

4.7

4.4

4.6

4.5

4.9

4.7

3.7

3.5

3.4

3.6

4.2

1.1

1.9

3.0

3.6

3.9

4.4

7.6

7.2

4.7

4.5

4.3

3.7

3.0

2.7

3.2

3.9

4.2

4.4

5.0

9.2

6.6

4.7

4.4

4.3

3.7

3.0

2.9

3.4

4.0

4.2

4.5

5.6

10.3

6.0

4.7

4.4

4.5

4.0

3.6

3.3

3.1

3.2

3.5

3.8

4.5

1.1

2.0

3.2

4.6

5.2

5.0

7.0

6.8

5.1

5.5

4.8

3.5

2.6

2.3

2.8

3.9

5.1

5.3

5.3

7.6

6.3

5.2

5.5

4.6

3.4

2.6

2.4

3.0

4.2

5.1

5.2

5.6

8.4

5.8

5.3

5.4

4.6

3.8

3.1

2.8

2.7

3.1

4.6

5.0

4.9

1.1

2.0

3.4

5.0

6.6

6.0

10.4

10.2

5.9

6.6

4.9

3.4

2.5

2.2

2.7

3.9

5.5

6.6

6.6

9.8

8.9

5.9

6.4

4.7

3.3

2.4

2.3

2.9

4.2

5.7

6.1

7.0

9.1

7.4

6.0

6.0

4.6

3.7

3.0

2.8

2.8

3.2

5.2

6.6

4.8

3.4

5.1

6.7

6.1

11.2

11.0

5.9

6.6

4.9

3.4

2.4

2.1

2.7

3.9

5.7

6.7

6.9

11.6

9.0

6.3

6.4

4.7

3.3

2.4

2.2

2.9

4.2

6.0

6.7

9.2

11.6

10.1

6.6

6.2

4.6

3.6

3.0

2.8

2.9

3.3

5.7

1.2

2.2

3.5

4.8

5.5

5.1

7.2

7.0

5.0

5.4

4.7

3.4

2.5

2.2

2.8

3.8

5.2

5.7

5.7

7.9

7.0

5.4

5.8

4.5

3.3

2.4

2.3

3.0

4.1

5.6

5.8

6.5

8.5

6.9

5.8

5.8

4.5

3.6

3.0

2.8

2.8

3.1

5.1

6.5

4.7

1.2

2.2

3.4

4.2

4.3

4.6

7.4

6.9

4.5

4.3

4.1

3.3

2.5

2.3

2.8

3.7

4.6

4.8

5.0

8.4

6.2

4.8

4.7

4.2

3.2

2.5

2.4

3.0

4.0

4.9

4.9

5.3

8.6

5.5

4.9

4.9

4.3

3.6

2.9

2.6

2.6

2.9

4.6

5.2

4.9

1.3

2.3

3.3

3.5

3.7

4.4

8.2

7.6

4.3

3.6

3.5

3.4

2.8

2.5

3.1

3.7

3.8

4.2

5.2

9.8

6.9

4.5

3.9

3.7

3.3

2.6

2.6

3.2

3.7

3.8

4.3

5.6

10.3

5.8

4.3

3.9

3.9

3.6

3.0

2.7

2.6

2.8

3.2

3.6

4.4

1.5

2.4

3.3

3.5

3.7

4.2

7.5

7.2

4.1

3.7

3.6

3.8

3.4

3.1

3.7

3.9

3.9

4.4

5.3

9.2

7.1

4.6

3.9

3.9

3.7

3.1

3.2

3.7

3.8

3.9

4.4

5.7

9.7

6.0

4.3

3.8

4.0

3.9

3.4

3.2

3.1

2.8

2.9

3.2

4.2

1.6

2.5

3.1

3.3

3.6

3.9

5.6

5.5

3.9

3.7

3.7

4.2

4.5

4.5

4.5

4.0

4.1

4.5

5.3

7.2

6.3

4.5

4.1

4.1

4.5

4.4

4.3

4.2

3.8

4.0

4.6

5.7

7.5

5.7

4.4

4.0

4.1

4.6

4.4

4.1

3.7

2.9

2.8

3.1

3.5

1.7

2.4

2.9

3.0

3.2

3.4

4.0

4.0

3.5

3.6

3.8

4.3

5.6

6.7

4.9

4.1

4.1

4.2

4.7

5.3

4.9

4.1

4.0

4.1

4.9

6.5

5.3

4.2

3.9

3.9

4.1

4.8

5.3

4.7

4.0

4.0

4.1

4.9

6.1

5.4

4.0

3.1

2.8

2.9

2.8

1.8

2.2

2.5

2.8

3.0

3.3

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.8

4.5

5.0

6.4

8.6

5.5

4.9

4.4

4.0

4.0

4.2

4.0

3.9

4.3

4.7

5.4

8.5

5.9

4.8

4.4

3.9

3.7

3.9

4.0

3.8

3.7

4.0

4.5

5.1

7.7

6.1

4.4

3.7

3.0

2.6

2.3

2.1

2.5

2.7

2.8

3.0

3.4

3.6

3.5

3.6

4.3

6.6

7.4

7.4

10.8

7.1

7.2

5.3

4.0

3.9

4.0

3.8

4.0

5.4

6.8

6.7

11.2

7.0

6.9

6.1

4.0

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.5

3.5

4.7

6.2

6.3

9.6

7.3

6.0

5.6

3.6

2.6

2.2

2.7

3.3

3.8

3.2

3.3

3.6

3.8

3.9

4.0

4.7

7.3

9.0

9.0

12.3

8.3

7.8

5.6

4.1

4.1

4.1

4.0

4.1

5.8

7.9

7.7

12.3

7.9

8.4

6.5

4.0

3.7

3.7

3.7

3.6

3.6

5.1

7.4

7.7

10.2

8.1

8.0

6.6

3.9

2.8

2.3

3.7

4.6

5.8

4.8

3.8

3.7

3.9

4.1

4.4

5.0

7.8

9.4

8.9

14.0

8.0

8.1

5.6

4.1

4.2

4.2

4.1

4.2

6.0

8.2

8.1

7.4

8.9

7.0

4.0

3.7

3.7

3.8

3.7

3.7

5.2

8.1

9.7

11.5

10.4

9.1

7.3

4.0

3.0

2.4

5.2

5.1

6.8

6.9

5.3

4.1

3.9

3.9

4.2

4.9

7.0

8.0

7.4

10.5

7.2

7.3

5.1

3.8

3.8

3.9

3.8

3.8

5.5

7.4

7.0

11.2

7.0

7.7

6.1

3.8

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.4

3.4

4.9

7.1

7.4

10.0

7.9

7.9

6.5

3.8

2.7

2.2

4.8

5.5

5.6

6.8

6.4

4.7

3.8

3.6

3.7

4.2

5.1

5.2

6.4

8.8

5.2

4.8

4.1

3.3

3.4

3.6

3.4

3.4

4.5

5.2

5.5

9.6

6.0

5.2

4.7

3.3

3.0

3.2

3.3

3.1

3.0

4.2

5.6

5.7

9.1

6.9

5.6

5.3

3.4

2.4

2.0

6.2

4.8

4.7

3.9

3.5

3.4

3.1

3.1

3.3

3.6

4.8

6.4

4.0

3.2

2.9

2.9

3.1

3.4

3.1

2.9

3.0

3.3

4.2

6.8

4.5

3.4

3.0

2.7

2.7

3.0

3.0

2.8

2.7

2.9

3.4

4.1

6.8

5.3

3.7

3.1

2.5

3.8

5.9

4.7

3.9

3.4

2.9

2.5

2.3

2.3

3.5

3.8

3.1

2.3

2.2

2.4

2.9

3.1

2.8

2.4

2.5

3.3

4.2

3.5

2.6

2.2

2.1

2.4

2.8

2.9

2.3

2.2

2.4

3.3

4.5

4.0

2.9

2.2

1.9

1.4

1.7

3.7

3.8

3.1

2.4

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.9

1.8

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.2

1.9

1.8

2.1

2.0

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.4

1.8

1.7

1.8

2.3

2.3

2.3

2.1

1.5

1.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.2

0.2

15.5

L24 @ 25'

L24 @ 25'

L24 @ 25'

L14FT @ 25'

L14 @ 25'L14FT @ 25'

L14 @ 25'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

C16 @ 9'

C16 @ 9'

C16 @ 9'

C16 @ 9'

(2) C16 @ 11.5'

(2) C16 @ 7'

WP1 @ 15'

L24 @ 25'

L24 @ 25'

L24 @ 25'

L12 @ 25'

W
P

1
 @

 1
5

'

W
P

1
 @

 1
5

'

W
P

1
 @

 1
5

'

W
P

1
 @

 1
5

'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15' WP1 @ 15' WP1 @ 15' WP1 @ 15'

WP1 @ 15'

W
P

2
 @

 9
'

WP2 @ 9'

SL4 @ 25'

L14FT @ 25'L14FT @ 25'

L24FT @ 25'

L24FT @ 25'

L24FT @ 25'

L14FT @ 25'

L13 @ 25'

L13 @ 25'

(2) C16 @ 11.5'

(2) C16 @ 11.5'

(2) C16 @ 11.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(2) C16 @ 9.5'

(4) C16 @ 9.5'

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

N
AK

EE
, W

I 5
35

97
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

MAR. 15, 2019

MAY 17, 2019

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

58 of 68



Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min

Calc Zone #1 1.1 fc 23.9 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A

Stat Zone # 2 4.1 fc 15.5 fc 0.2 fc 77.5:1 20.5:1

Schedule

Symbol Label QTY Catalog Number Description Lamp
Number 

Lamps

Lumens 

per Lamp
LLF Wattage

L24
6 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-

T4W

GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE IV WIDE OPTICS

96 377 0.9 666

L14FT
5 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-

T4FT

GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE IV FORWARD THROW OPTICS

96 381 0.9 333

L12
1 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-T2 GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE II OPTICS

96 372 0.9 333

L14

2 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-

T4W

GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE IV WIDE OPTICS

96 377 0.9 333

C16

56 LD6B15D010 

EU6B10208030 6LBMB1

PORTFOLIO 6 INCH 50 DEGREE CUTOFF 

RECESSED DOWNLIGHT MEDIUM 

DISTRIBUTION WITH SPECULAR BLACK 

TRIM WATTAGE D010TR-14.39 W DE010-

14.29 W D5LT-14.34 W DMX-14.46 W DL2-

15.8 W DL3-15.28 W DLE-15.432 W

HIGH LUMEN LED ABSOLUTE 

PHOTOMETRY IS BASED ON 

CALIBRATION FACTORS 

CREATED USING LAB LUMEN 

STANDARDS IN 

GONIOPHOTOMETER WITH 

TEST DISTANCE OF 28.75 

FEET

1 637 0.9 14.3

WP1

20 ISC-E02-LED-E1-GZW IMPACT ELITE LED LUMINAIRE (2) 

LIGHTBARS WITH AccuLED OPTICS - WALL 

GRAZER WIDE

(42) 4000K CCT, 70 CRI 

LEDs ABSOLUTE 

PHOTOMETRY IS BASED ON 

CALIBRATION FACTORS 

CREATED USING LAB LUMEN 

STANDARDS IN 

GONIOPHOTOMETER WITH 

TEST DISTANCE OF 28.75 

FEET

42 132 0.9 46.9

WP2

2 ISC-E01-LED-E1-BL3 IMPACT ELITE LED LUMINAIRE (1) 

LIGHTBARS WITH AccuLED OPTICS - TYPE 

3 W/ BACK LIGHT CONTROL

(21) 4000K CCT, 70 CRI 

LEDs ABSOLUTE 

PHOTOMETRY IS BASED ON 

CALIBRATION FACTORS 

CREATED USING LAB LUMEN 

STANDARDS IN 

GONIOPHOTOMETER WITH 

TEST DISTANCE OF 28.75 

FEET

21 129 0.9 24.7

SL4

1 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-

SL4-HSS

GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE IV SPILL LIGHT ELIMINATOR OPTICS 

WITH HOUSE SIDE SHIELD

96 308 0.9 333

L13
2 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-T3 GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE III OPTICS

96 380 0.9 333

L24FT

3 GLEON-AF-06-LED-E1-

T4FT

GALLEON AREA AND ROADWAY LUMINAIRE 

(6) 70 CRI, 4000K, 1050mA 

LIGHTSQUARES WITH 16 LEDS EACH AND 

TYPE IV FORWARD THROW OPTICS

96 381 0.9 666

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

N
AK

EE
, W

I 5
35

97
N

O
T 

FO
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

MAR. 15, 2019

MAY 17, 2019

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

59 of 68



STOP

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

21 TIY
18 IH

BIKE RACK
6GVB
2 FAH

10 GMS
BENCH (TYP)

16 KFRG

8 KFRG
5 GMB

BIKE RACK

5 KFRG
6 MKL

15 AJS
24 KFRG
6 KCPJ

5 KFRG

STORMWATER SEED MIX

NO MOW
SEED MIX

5 RJFC

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

1 AGM1 GSL

1 ABM

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

1 PPH
5 WRW

6 GLS

1 SFS
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

4 WRW
1 GSL

10 HRD

5 GLS

31 KFRG
13 RRD

17 RRD
10 KFRG

5 PPSR
48 PDS

11 HRD

5 NS

1 VFE
1 SP

3 NS

1 SHL
5 NS

1 KCT
4 BHS

1 KCT
5 BHS
1 SWO

4 NS
1 TCH

2 ABS
1 SP

3 NS

5 CF 2 TCH
1 AGM

2 PFC

3 CF

1 SP

3 NS

3 ABS

3 CF
5 BHS

3 BHS
1 SWO1 SP

1 SWO
5 NS

2 CF

1 KCT

1 KCT 1 PPH

14 BRC9 KFRG
8 AWS

1 PPH
5 WRW

6 GLS

1 SWO

1 GMSM

1 HRB

2 SP

1 GSL

1 PFC

1 GMSM

3 CF

1 GMSM

2 AFC

2 NS

1 VFE

3 BHS

3 TCH

3 ABS

2 NS

1 HRB

3 NS

2 JTL

1 AFC

2 JTL

1 AFC

1 NS

1 PPH1 GMSM

1 AGM

2 ABS

1 TCH1 VFE

7 MKL
8 SGJ

6 MV
8 SGJ

7 MKL
8 SGJ

7 MV
8 SGJ

2 RPM

1 RPM

2 RPM

3 RJFC

10 HCJ

STORMWATER SEED MIX

STORMWATER SEED MIX

1 HRB

1 HRB

7 KFRG
10 BRC

9 AJAV

8 AJAV

7 MKL

8 BRC

5 BRC

8 MV

7 BRC

5 AJAV

18 WRW
30 KCPJ

18" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

16" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

1 SHL
10 MKL

7 MKL
26 KFRG

DECOMPOSED GRANITE

2 BHS

1 ABM
1 PPH
1 BHS

1 GMSM

3 CF

3 NS

17 AJS
7 GLS

6 IH

2 PPH

1 PPH

1 GSL

3 CF

1 ABM

1 AGM

1 AGM

1 SWO

3 CF

3 BHS

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SFS
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

1 HRB

1 AFC

1 GSL

STORMWATER SEED MIX

4 PPSR
5 GLS

1 KCT

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

OVERALL LANDSCAPE PLAN


PLANT ABBREVIATIONS

STORMWATER SEED MIX

Scale: 1" = 40'0"

CODE REQUIREMENTS

DIGGERS HOTLINE

HELLER &
ASSOCIATES, LLC

L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T U R E

P.O. Box 1359
Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 53147-1359
ph 262.639.9733
david@wdavidheller.com
www.wdavidheller.com

NO
T 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
O

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

60 of 68



STOP

21 TIY
18 IH

BIKE RACK
6GVB
2 FAH

10 GMS
BENCH (TYP)

16 KFRG

8 KFRG
5 GMB

BIKE RACK

STORMWATER SEED MIX

5 RJFC

1 GSL

5 NS

1 VFE
1 SP

3 NS

1 SHL
5 NS

1 KCT
4 BHS

1 KCT
5 BHS
1 SWO

4 NS
1 TCH

2 ABS
1 SP

3 NS

5 CF 2 TCH
1 AGM

2 PFC

3 CF

1 SP

3 NS

3 ABS

3 CF
5 BHS

3 BHS
1 SWO1 SP

1 SWO
5 NS

2 SP

1 GSL

1 PFC

1 GMSM

1 GMSM

3 RJFC

10 HCJ

1 HRB

1 HRB

7 KFRG
10 BRC

5 AJAV

18 WRW
30 KCPJ

18" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

16" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

DECOMPOSED GRANITE

2 BHS

1 ABM
1 PPH
1 BHS

1 GMSM

1 GSL

3 CF

1 ABM

1 AGM

3 CF

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

ENLARGED LANDSCAPE PLAN


Scale: 1" = 20'0"

DIGGERS HOTLINE

HELLER &
ASSOCIATES, LLC

L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T U R E

P.O. Box 1359
Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 53147-1359
ph 262.639.9733
david@wdavidheller.com
www.wdavidheller.com

PLANT ABBREVIATIONS

NO
T 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
O

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

61 of 68



STOP

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

21 TIY
18 IH

BIKE RACK
6GVB
2 FAH

10 GMS
BENCH (TYP)

16 KFRG

8 KFRG
5 GMB

BIKE RACK

5 KFRG
6 MKL

15 AJS
24 KFRG
6 KCPJ

5 KFRGNO MOW
SEED MIX

5 RJFC

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

1 AGM1 GSL

1 ABM

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

1 SFS
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

4 WRW
10 HRD

5 PPSR
48 PDS

11 HRD

5 NS

1 VFE
1 SP

3 NS

1 SHL
5 NS

1 SWO

1 AFC

2 JTL

1 AFC

1 NS

1 PPH1 GMSM

1 AGM

2 ABS

1 TCH1 VFE

6 MV
8 SGJ

7 MKL
8 SGJ

7 MV
8 SGJ

2 RPM

1 RPM

2 RPM

10 HCJ

7 KFRG
10 BRC

9 AJAV

8 AJAV

7 MKL

8 BRC

5 BRC

18 WRW
30 KCPJ

18" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

16" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

1 SHL
10 MKL

DECOMPOSED GRANITE

2 BHS

3 CF

3 NS

17 AJS
7 GLS

6 IH

2 PPH

3 CF

1 ABM

1 AGM

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SFS
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

4 PPSR
5 GLS

1 KCT

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

ENLARGED LANDSCAPE PLAN


Scale: 1" = 20'0"

DIGGERS HOTLINE

HELLER &
ASSOCIATES, LLC

L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T U R E

P.O. Box 1359
Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 53147-1359
ph 262.639.9733
david@wdavidheller.com
www.wdavidheller.com

PLANT ABBREVIATIONS

NO
T 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
O

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

62 of 68



2 ABM
8 IH

2 VFE
8 IH

12 GLS

8 KFRG
5 GMB

BIKE RACK

1 PPH
5 WRW

6 GLS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

4 WRW
1 GSL

10 HRD

5 GLS

31 KFRG
13 RRD

17 RRD
10 KFRG

1 SWO
5 NS

2 CF

1 KCT

1 KCT 1 PPH

14 BRC9 KFRG
8 AWS

1 PPH
5 WRW

6 GLS 1 GMSM

1 HRB

3 CF

1 GMSM

2 AFC

2 NS

1 VFE

3 BHS

3 TCH

3 ABS

2 NS

1 HRB

3 NS

2 JTL

7 MKL
8 SGJ

6 MV
8 SGJ

2 RPM

3 RJFC

STORMWATER SEED MIX

STORMWATER SEED MIX8 MV

7 BRC

18 WRW
30 KCPJ

18" GRAVEL
MAINTENANCE STRIP

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

7 MKL
26 KFRG

1 PPH

1 GSL

1 AGM

1 SWO

3 CF

3 BHS

2 CFP
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 AH
8 PPSR

10 GLS

2 ABM
8 IH

12 GLS

2 SHL
8 IH

12 GLS

8 IH

1 HRB

1 AFC

1 GSL

STORMWATER SEED MIX

1 KCT

SHADE TREE PLANTING

REMOVE 'V' CROTCHES, STUBS, DOUBLE
LEADERS AND OVERLAPPING / RUBBING
PRUNE PLANTS (IF NEEDED) ONLY AFTER
PLANTING.
PRUNING IS SUBJECT TO TIME OF YEAR, AND
SPECIFIC TREE SPECIES.

2 N.T.S. SECTION

WRAP TREE IN FALL FOR PROTECTION FROM
DEER (IF APPLICABLE).
3" AVERAGE DEPTH MULCH OVER SOIL RING;
DO NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST TREE TRUNK.
REMOVE BURLAP, SYNTHETIC TWINE, AND
WIRE CAGE FROM TOP 13  OF ROOTBALL.
SCORE REMAINING 23 OF BURLAP ONCE TREE
IS IN PLACE, AND STRAIGHTENED.
CAREFULLY BEND REMAINING CAGE DOWN
TO BOTTOM OF HOLE.
INSTALL ONE (1) SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER
PACKET PER 1" CALIPER OF TREE.  PLACE
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF
ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED SOIL - AVOID AIR
POCKETS BY TAMPING SOIL MIXTURE IN 4"
LIFTS.
EXISTING SUBGRADE.

EVERGREEN TREE PLANTING6 SECTION

REMOVE STUBS, AND OVERLAPPING, BROKEN
OR RUBBING BRANCHES.  PRUNE PLANTS (IF
NEEDED) ONLY AFTER PLANTING.
PRUNING IS SUBJECT TO TIME OF YEAR, AND
SPECIFIC TREE SPECIES.
3" AVERAGE DEPTH MULCH OVER SOIL RING;
DO NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST TREE TRUNK.

REMOVE BURLAP, SYNTHETIC TWINE, AND
WIRE CAGE FROM TOP 13  OF ROOTBALL.
SCORE REMAINING 2 3 OF BURLAP ONCE TREE
IS IN PLACE, AND STRAIGHTENED.
CAREFULLY BEND REMAINING CAGE DOWN
TO BOTTOM OF HOLE.
INSTALL ONE (1) SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER
PACKET PER 24" HEIGHT OF TREE.  PLACE
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF
ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED SOIL - AVOID AIR
POCKETS BY TAMPING SOIL MIXTURE IN 4"
LIFTS.
EXISTING SUBGRADE.

PLANT TREE AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.
PLANT SLIGHTLY HIGHER THAN
SURROUNDING FINISHED GRADE.

PLANT TREE AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.
PLANT SLIGHTLY HIGHER THAN
SURROUNDING FINISHED GRADE.

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH
A THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE
WATERING.

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH
A THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE
WATERING.

N.T.S.

DECIDUOUS SHRUB PLANTING (B&B)7 N.T.S. SECTION

GROUNDCOVER / PERENNIAL PLANTING

PRUNE OUT DEAD & BROKEN BRANCHES;
RETAIN NORMAL PLANT SHAPE.
2-3" AVERAGE DEPTH MULCH OVER SOIL
RING;  DO NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST
STEMS.
REMOVE BURLAP AND SYNTHETIC TWINE
FROM TOP 13  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE
REMAINING 2 3 OF BURLAP ONCE SHRUB IS IN
PLACE.
INSTALL TWO SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER
PACKETS AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF
ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX -
AVOID AIR POCKETS BY TAMPING SOIL
MIXTURE IN 4" LIFTS.
WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH
A THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE
WATERING.

PRUNE OUT DEAD & BROKEN BRANCHES; RETAIN
NORMAL PLANT SHAPE.
2-3" AVERAGE DEPTH MULCH OVER SOIL RING;  DO
NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST STEMS, OR BURY
BOTTOM BRANCHES.
REMOVE BURLAP AND SYNTHETIC TWINE FROM TOP
1

3  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE REMAINING 23 OF BURLAP.
INSTALL ONE SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER PACKET
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX - AVOID
AIR POCKETS BY TAMPING MIXTURE IN 4" LIFTS.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.

      DECIDUOUS SHRUB PLANTING (POTTED)3 N.T.S. SECTION

DETAIL EVERGREEN SHRUB PLANTING4 N.T.S. SECTION

BALLED & BURLAPPED POTTED
FIBER POT CONTAINER

CAREFULLY REMOVE PLANT FROM
PLASTIC POT & SCORE ROOTS 1" DEEP

WITH A SHARP KNIFE.

PRUNE OUT DEAD & BROKEN BRANCHES; RETAIN
NORMAL PLANT SHAPE.
2-3" AVERAGE DEPTH MULCH OVER SOIL RING;  DO
NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST STEMS, OR BURY
BOTTOM BRANCHES.
REMOVE BURLAP AND SYNTHETIC TWINE FROM TOP
1

3  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE REMAINING 23 OF BURLAP.
INSTALL ONE SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER PACKETS
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX - AVOID
AIR POCKETS BY TAMPING MIXTURE IN 4" LIFTS.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME
LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT
ROOT FLARE.

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

CAREFULLY REMOVE
PLANT FROM PLASTIC
POT & SCORE ROOTS

1" DEEP WITH A SHARP
KNIFE.

8 N.T.S. SECTION

PER SCHEDULE

(6-24" TYP.)

SPACING PLAN - IF NOT INDICATED ON PLANT
& MATERIAL LIST

11
2 DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

OR LEAF COMPOST
REMOVE BROKEN, BENT, DEAD OR DISEASED
LEAVES/STEMS AFTER PLANTING
CAREFULL REMOVE PLANT FROM CONTAINER;
SCORE ROOTS ON ALL SIDES; HAND TAMP INTO
PLACE TO PROTECT PLANT

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH
A THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE
WATERING.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.

PLANTING MIX DEPTH OF 9" TO BE
ROTO-TILLED AT ALL PERENNIAL AREAS

SPACING OF PERENNIALS WILL VARY ON THE
VARIETY OF PERENNIAL SELECTED

SPADE EDGE WHERE PLANTING BEDS MEET
LAWN AREAS.
SCARIFY EXISTING SUBGRADE.

N.T.S. SECTION

SPADE EDGE PLANT BED EDGE DETAIL5

BEDLINES ARE TO BE CUT CRISP AS PER PLAN.  A
CLEAN DEFINITION BETWEEN TURF AND PLANTING
BED IS REQUIRED.

TURF
TOPSOIL / PLANTING MIX

TOP OF MULCH SHOULD BE CRESTED 1-2" ABOVE
TURF FOR POSITIBE DRAINGE. SLOPE GRADUALLY.

2-3" (+/-) MULCH BED

DETAIL

DETAILDETAILDETAIL

DETAIL DETAIL

ORNAMENTAL GRASS PLANTING9 N.T.S. SECTION

PER SCHEDULE

(15-36" TYP.)

SPACING PLAN - IF NOT INDICATED ON PLANT
& MATERIAL LIST

11
2 DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

OR LEAF COMPOST
REMOVE BROKEN, BENT, DEAD OR DISEASED
LEAVES/STEMS AFTER PLANTING
CAREFULL REMOVE PLANT FROM CONTAINER;
SCORE ROOTS ON ALL SIDES; HAND TAMP INTO
PLACE TO PROTECT PLANT

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH
A THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE
WATERING.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.

PLANTING MIX DEPTH OF 9" TO BE
ROTO-TILLED AT ALL PERENNIAL AREAS

SPACING OF ORNAMENTAL GRASS WILL VARY ON
THE VARIETY OF ORNAMENTAL GRASS SELECTED

SPADE EDGE WHERE PLANTING BEDS MEET
LAWN AREAS.
SCARIFY EXISTING SUBGRADE.

DETAIL

N.T.S.

DETAIL STONE MAINTENANCE DRIP EDGE DETAIL

1
8" x 4" ALUMINUM EDGE RESTRAINT; MILL FINISH;

STAKED EVERY 24".

TURF/PLANTINGS
TOPSOIL / PLANTING MIX

TOP OF GRAVEL SHOULD BE APPROXIMATELY 1/2"
BELOW THE TOP LIP OF THE EDGE RESTRAINT.

2" LIMESTONE SCREENINGS
OR DECOMPOSED

GRANITE (COMPACTED)

3" (+/-) STONE / GRAVEL MEDIUM
(SEE PLAN FOR TYPE)

FILTER FABRIC
SUBGRADE

SECTION1

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

ENLARGED LANDSCAPE PLAN


PLANTING & HARDSCAPE DETAILS

Scale: 1" = 20'0"

DIGGERS HOTLINE

HELLER &
ASSOCIATES, LLC

L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T U R E

P.O. Box 1359
Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 53147-1359
ph 262.639.9733
david@wdavidheller.com
www.wdavidheller.com

PLANT ABBREVIATIONS

NO
T 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
O

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

63 of 68



1.  Contractor responsible for contacting Diggers Hotline (811 or 800-242-8511) to have site marked prior to excavation or planting.

2.  Contractor to verify all plant quantities shown on Plant & Material List and landscape planting symbols and report any discrepancies to Landscape Architect or
General Contractor.

3.  All plantings shall comply with standards as described in American Standard of Nursery Stock - Z60.1 ANSI (latest version).  Landscape Architect reserves
the right to inspect, and potentially reject any plants that are inferior, compromised, undersized, diseased, improperly transported, installed incorrectly or
damaged.  No sub-standard "B Grade" or "Park Grade" plant material shall be accepted.  Plant material shall originate from nursery(ies) with a similar climate as
the planting site.

4.  Any potential plant substitutions must be approved by Landscape Architect or Owner.  All plants must be installed as per sizes indicated on Plant &  Material
Schedule, unless approved by Landscape Architect.  Any changes to sizes shown on plan must be submitted in writing to the Landscape Architect prior to
installation.

5.  Topspoil in Parking Lot Islands (if applicable):  All parking lot islands to be backfilled with topsoil to a minimum depth of 18" to insure long-term plant health.
Topsoil should be placed within 3" of finish grade by General Contractor / Excavation Contractor during rough grading operations/activity.  The landscape
contractor shall be responsible for the fine grading of all disturbed areas, planting bed areas, and lawn areas.  Crown all parking lot islands a minimum of 6" to
provide proper drainage, unless otherwise specified.

6.  Tree Planting:  Plant all trees slightly higher than finished grade at the root flare.  Remove excess soil from the top of the root ball, if needed.  Remove and
discard non-biodegradable ball wrapping and support wire.  Removed biodegradable burlap and wire cage (if present) from the top 13 of the rootball and carefully
bend remaining wire down to the bottom of the hole.  Once the tree has been placed into the hole and will no longer be moved, score the remaining 23  of the
burlap and remove the twine.  Provide three slow release fertilizer for each tree planted.

7.  Tree Planting:  Backfill tree planting holes 80% existing soils removed from excavation and 20% plant starter mix.  Avoid air pockets and do not tamp soil
down.  Discard any gravel, rocks, heavy clay, or concrete pieces.  When hole is 23 full, trees shall be watered thoroughly, and water left to soak in before
proceeding to fill the remainder of the hole.  Water again to full soak in the new planting.  Each tree shall receive a 3" deep, 4-5' diameter (see planting details or
planting plan) shredded hardwood bark mulch ring around all trees planted in lawn areas.  Do not build up any mulch onto the trunk of any tree.  Trees that are
installed incorrectly will be replaced at the time and expense of the Landscape Contractor.

8.  Shrub Planting:  All shrubs to be planted in groupings as indicated on the Landscape Plan.  Install with the planting of shrubs a 50
50 mix of plant starter with

topsoil.  Install topsoil into all plant beds as needed to achieve proper grade and displace undesirable soil (see planting detail).  Remove all excessive gravel,
clay and stones from plant beds prior to planting.  When hole(s) are 2 3 full, shrubs shall be watered thoroughly, and water left to soak in before proceeding.
Provide slow-release fertilizer packets at the rater of 1 per 24" height/diamter of shrub at planting.

9.  Mulching:  All tree and shrub planting beds to receive a 3" deep layer of high quality shredded hardwood bark mulch (not pigment dyed or enviro-mulch).  All
perennial planting areas (groupings) shall receive a 2" layer of shredded hardwood bark mulch, and groundcover areas a 1-2" layer of the same mulch.  Do not
mulch annual flower beds (if applicable).  Do not allow mulch to contact plant stems and tree trunks.

10.  Edging:  All planting beds shall be edged with a 4" deep spade edge using a flat landscape spade or a mechanical edger.  Bedlines are to be cut crisp,
smooth as per plan.  A clean definition between landscape beds and lawn is required.  Pack mulch against lawn edge to hold in place.

11.  Plant bed preparation/Soil Amendment composition:  All perennial, groundcover and annual areas (if applicable) are required to receive a blend of organic
soil (Soil Amendments) amendments prior to installation.  Roto-till the following materials at the following ratio, into existing soil beds or installed topsoil beds to a
depth of approximately 8"-10".  Containerized and balled & burlapped plant material should be back-filled with amended soil:

Per 100 SF of bed area (Soil Amendment composition):
3

4 CY Peat Moss or Mushroom Compost
3

4  CY blended/pulverized Topsoil
1

4  CY composted manure

In roto-tilled beds only, also include in above mixture:
2   lbs Starter Fertilizer

12.  Lawn Installation for all sodded turfgrass areas:  Contractor to furnish and prepare blended topsoil (2" minimum) and sod bed, removing all debris and
stones 12" and larger.  Apply a 10-10-10 starter lawn fertilizer uniformly throughout areas prior to laying sod.  Use only premium sod blend according to TPI
(revised 1995) and ASPA Standards.  Install sod uniformly with staggered joints, laid tightly end to end and side to side.  Roll sod with a walk behind roller and
water immediately upon installation to a 3" depth.  Stake any sod installed on slopes steeper than 1:3, and in all swale applications.  Contractor is responsible to
provide a smooth, uniform, healthy turf, and is responsible for the first two mowings of the newly installed turf, and is also responsible for watering during this
period.

13.  Installation preparation for all seeded areas:  remove/kill off any existing unwanted vegetation prior to seeding.  Prepare the topsoil (if adequate or provide
as in item #6 above) and seed bed by removing all surface stones 1" or larger.  Apply a starter fertilizer and specified seed uniformly at the specified rate, and
provide mulch covering suitable to germinate and establish turf.  Provide seed and fertilizer specifications to Landscape Architect and Owner prior to installation.
Erosion control measures are to be used in swales and on slopes in excess of 1:3 and where applicable (see Civil Engineering Drawings).  Methods of
installation may vary are the discretion of the Landscape Contractor on his/her responsibility to establish and guarantee a smooth, uniform, quality turf.  A
minimum of 2" of blended, prepared and non-compacted topsoil is required for all lawn areas.  If straw mulch is used as a mulch covering, a tackifier may be
necessary to avoid wind dispersal of mulch covering.  Marsh hay containing reed canary grass is NOT acceptable as a mulch covering.

An acceptable quality seed installation is defined as having:
No bare spots larger than one (1) square foot
No more than 10% of the total area with bare areas larger than one (1) square foot
A uniform coverage through all turf areas

14. No-Mow seed areas:  "No-Mow" fine fescue seed mix with annual rye nurse crop (available at Cedar Creek Seed Farm 888-313-6807; or Prairie Nursery
608-296-3679) or approved equivalent mix from a reputable seed mix provider.  Apply at 220 lbs per acre or at rate recommended by supplier.  Prepare seed
bed and soil as specified in item #13 above.

15.  Native Prairie Seed Mix / Stormwater Seed Mix: Native seed mixes as listed on the Plant and Material List or other seeding schedules outlined on the
landscape plan set.  Seed mixes available from Prairie Nursery 608-296-3679 or JF New 608-848-1789 or approved equivalent mix from a reputable seed mix
provider.  Apply at rates specified herein, or per supplier recommendation.  Prepare soil and seed bed as in item #13 above.

16.  Warranty and Replacements:  All plantings are to be watered thoroughly at the time of planting, through construction and upon completion of project as
required.  Trees, Evergreens, and Shrubs (deciduous and evergreen) shall be guaranteed (100% replacement) for a minimum of one (1) year from the date of
project completion.  Perennials, groundcovers, and ornamental grasses shall be guaranteed for a minimum of one (1) growing season.  Perennials,
groundcovers, and ornamental grasses planted after September 15th shall be guaranteed through May 31st of the following year.  Only one replacement per
plant will be required during the warranty period, except for losses or replacements due to failure to comply with specified requirements.  Watering and general
ongoing maintenance instructions are to be supplied by the Landscape Contractor to the Owner upon completion of the project.

17.  The Landscape Contractor is responsible for the watering and maintenance of all landscape areas for a period of 45 days after the substantial completion of
the landscape installation.  This shall include all trees, shrubs, evergreens, perennials, ornamental grasses, turf grass, no-mow grass, and native prairie seed
mix / stormwater seed mix.  Work also includes weeding, edging, mulching (only if required), fertilizing, trimming, sweeping up grass clippings, pruning and
deadheading.

18.  Project Completion:  Landscape Contractor is responsible to conduct a final review of the project, upon completion, with the Landscape Architect, Client or
Owner / Client Representative, and the General Contractor to answer questions, provide written care instructions for new plantings and turf, and insure that all
specifications have been met.

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2018 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

Always a Better Plan
100 Camelot Drive
Fond Du Lac, WI 54935
Phone: (920) 926-9800
www.EXCELENGINEER.com

JOB NUMBER

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
GR

O
CE

RY
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

FO
R:

FE
ST

IV
AL

 F
O

O
DS

, I
N

C.
CT

Y 
RD

 Q
 ●

 W
AU

NA
KE

E,
 W

I 5
35

97

PLANT & MATERIAL SCHEDULE: FESTIVAL FOODS PARCELLANDSCAPE GENERAL NOTES

DIGGERS HOTLINE

HELLER &
ASSOCIATES, LLC

L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T U R E

P.O. Box 1359
Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 53147-1359
ph 262.639.9733
david@wdavidheller.com
www.wdavidheller.com

NO
T 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
O

N

PRELIMINARY DATES

NEW BUSINESS-3 Discuss and Take Action on the Specific...

64 of 68



WAUNAKEE/WESTPORT JOINT PLAN COMMISSION SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: 06/11/2019 

ITEM: PUBLIC HEARING

TITLE: Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on a request by Groundswell Conservancy to divide & 
rezone 3 parcels located along STH 19 & Hellenbrand Rd (AKA: O’Malley Property) into 2 parcels. 
The larger parcel will be rezoned from A-1 to Conservancy

ISSUE SUMMARY: Groundswell Conservancy is requesting to divide and rezone three parcels 
located along STH 19 and Hellenbrand Road (AKA: The O’Malley Property) into two parcels. The 
larger of the two parcels will be rezoned from A-1 Agricultural to Conservancy to create an 84 acre 
conservancy park. The remaining acreage would remain Village A-1 Agricultural Holding.    

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval

RECOMMENDED MOTION: Motion to recommend approval of the certified survey map and rezone 
of the 84 acre parcel to Village Conservancy to the Village Board subject to standard Town land 
division restrictions.

NEW BUSINESS-4 Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on...

65 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-4 Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on...

66 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-4 Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on...

67 of 68



NEW BUSINESS-4 Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on...

68 of 68


	Agenda
	May 14, 2019
	Initial Consultation, Schutz Extraterritorial Rezone, 5540 Gerend Road, Town of Westport
	Public Hearing and Discussion/Action on Festival Foods Conditional Use Permit to Exceed the Maximum Allowable Building Square Footage in the Kilkenny West Commercial Development
	Discuss and Take Action on the Specific Implementation Plan for Festival Foods in the Kilkenny Commons West commercial development
	tmp5F69.tmp
	Festival Foods - Waunakee - Presentation Boards.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3

	Festival Foods - Waunakee_Retaining Wall Signage.pdf
	Slide Number 1


	Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on a request by Groundswell Conservancy to divide & rezone 3 parcels located along STH 19 & Hellenbrand Rd (AKA: O’Malley Property) into 2 parcels. The larger parcel will be rezoned from A-1 to Conservancy

